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To the Members of Dish TV India Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

1. We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dish TV India Limited (‘the Holding Company’) and
its subsidiaries (the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as ‘the Group’), as listed in Annexure 1, which
comprise the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2023, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including
Other Comprehensive Income), the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of the significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

2. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and based on the consideration
of the reports of the other auditors on separate financial statements and on the other financial information of the subsidiaries, 
the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) in the
manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards (‘Ind AS’) specified under 
section 133 of the Act, read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, and other accounting principles
generally accepted in India of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group, as at 31 March 2023, and their consolidated loss
(including other comprehensive income), consolidated cash flows and the consolidated changes in equity for the year ended
on that date.

Basis for Opinion

3. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing specified under section 143(10) of the Act. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group, in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained together with the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports referred
to in paragraph 16 of the Other Matter section below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

4. We draw attention to note 65 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements which describes that the audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 have not been adopted in the Annual General Meeting held
on 30 December 2021 and 26 September 2022 respectively and in adjourned Annual General Meeting held on 29 December
2022. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

5. Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment and based on the consideration of the reports of the
other auditors on separate financial statements of the subsidiaries, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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6. We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

A. Impairment assessment of Intangible assets including
Goodwill, Intangible assets under development and 
Property, plant and equipment

As detailed in note 5, 7, 8, 9 and 43 of the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has goodwill of Rs. Nil (net of provision
for impairment of Rs. 627,543 lacs), Trademark/Brand of Rs. Nil 
(net of provision for impairment of Rs. 102,909 lacs), Customer
and distributor relationship of Rs. Nil (net of provision for
impairment of Rs. 56,786 lacs), Plant and equipments of Rs. Nil
(net of provision for impairment of Rs. 2,185 lacs) and Consumer 
premises equipment of Rs. 40,125 lacs (net of provision
for impairment of Rs. 30,626 lacs) arising out of business
combinations, Trademark/Brand and Customer and distributor
relationship collectively referred to as other intangible assets
and Plant and equipments and Consumer premises equipment
collectively referred to as Property, plant and equipment and
Intangible assets under development of Rs. 37,519 lacs (net of
provision for impairment of Rs. 48,300 lacs).

In terms with Indian Accounting Standard 36, Impairment
of Assets, the management has carried out an impairment
analysis of goodwill, other intangible assets, and intangible
assets under development, which requires significant
estimations and judgement with respect to inputs used
and assumptions made to prepare the forecasted financial
information, used to determine the fair value of such
intangibles, using discounted cash flow model.

Key assumptions used in management’s assessment of the
carrying amount of goodwill other intangible assets, and
intangible assets under development includes the expected
growth rates, estimates of future financial performance,
market conditions, capital expenditure and discount rates,
among others. Consequent to such impairment assessment,
the Group has recorded an impairment charge of Rs. 62,109
lacs (previous year 161,687 lacs), Rs. 11,055 lacs (previous
year Rs. 71,770 lacs), Rs. 56,786 lacs (previous year Rs.
Nil), Rs. 2,185 lacs (previous year Rs. Nil), Rs. 30,626 lacs
(previous year Rs. Nil) and Rs. 28,000 lacs (previous year
Rs. 20,300 lacs) in the value of goodwill, trademark/brand,
customer and distributor relationship, plant and equipment,
consumer premises equipment and intangible assets under
development respectively.

Our audit procedures and those of the component 
auditors to address this key audit matter included, but 
were not limited to the following:

a) Obtained an understanding from the management
through detailed discussions with respect to its
impairment assessment process, assumptions
used and estimates made by management and
tested the operating effectiveness of the controls
related to the aforementioned impairment
assessment;

b) Obtained the impairment analysis carried out by
the management and reviewed the valuation report 
obtained by management from an independent
expert;

c) Assessed the professional competence, objectivity
and capabilities of the independent expert
considered by the management for performing the
required valuations to estimate the recoverable
value of the goodwill, other intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets under development;

d) Involved valuation experts within the audit team to
assess the appropriateness of the valuation model
used by the management and its independent
expert and reasonableness of assumptions made
by the management relating to discount rate, risk
premium, industry growth rate etc.;

e) Evaluated the inputs used by the management with 
respect to revenue and cost growth trends, among
others, for reasonableness thereof; and

f) Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made by the 
Group in the consolidated financial statements in
view of the requirements as specified in the Indian
Accounting Standards.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Considering the materiality of the amounts involved and 
significant degree of judgement and subjectivity involved in 
the estimates and assumptions used in determining the cash 
flows used in the impairment evaluation, we have determined 
impairment of such goodwill, other intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment arising from the business 
combination and intangible assets under development as a 
key audit matter.

B. Amounts recoverable and provision for expected credit
losses

Refer note 4(j) for significant accounting policy and note
48(B) for credit risk disclosures. Trade receivables and other
amounts recoverable comprise a significant portion of the
current financial assets of the Group. As at 31 March 2023
trade receivables aggregate Rs. 9,233 lacs (net of provision
for expected credit losses of Rs. 11,375 lacs).

In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Group applies simplified
approach permitted by Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments,
which requires lifetime expected credit losses to be
recognised from the date of initial recognition of receivables.
The Group has analysed the trend of trade receivables under
different ageing bracket for last three years and calculated
credit loss rate basis such ageing.

The complexity in calculation of ECL is mainly related to
calculations performed for different type of revenue streams
in which the Group operates and the different recovery period 
for different categories of customers. Additional provision
is recognised for the receivables which are specifically
identified as doubtful or non-recoverable.

Our audit procedures and those of the component 
auditors, to address this key audit matter included, but 
were not limited to the following:

a) Obtained an understanding the process adopted by
the Group for calculation, recording and monitoring 
of the impairment loss recognised for expected
credit loss;

b) Assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of key controls over completeness
and accuracy of the key inputs and assumptions
considered for calculation, recording and
monitoring of the impairment loss recognised.
Also, evaluated the controls over the modelling
process, validation of data and related approvals;

c) Discussed with the management about the
conditions leading to, and their assessment of
recoverability of dues from the parties and also
referred to the available communication, if any,
between them;

d) Referred to the aging of trade and other receivables 
and discussed the key balances to establish the
management’s assessment of recoverability of
such dues;

e) Analysed the methodology used by the management 
and considered the credit and payment history of
specific parties to determine the trend used for
arriving at the expected credit loss provision; and

f) Assessed the adequacy of disclosures made by
the management in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the expected credit loss
provision, trade and other receivables.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

C. Assessment of recoverability relating to Deferred tax 
assets (‘DTA’) recognized on property, plant and equipment:

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets recognized
on property, plant and equipment for one of the Holding
Company’s subsidiaries represents 86.97 % of the Group’s
total deferred tax assets on property, plant and equipment.

As detailed in note 12 of the consolidated financial statements, 
the subsidiary Company has DTA (net) of ` 60,509 lacs which
primarily includes DTA of ` 95,305 lacs on property, plant and
equipment.

The recognition of deferred tax assets involves judgment
regarding the likelihood of the reasonable certainty of
realisation of these assets, in particular whether there will
be taxable profits in future periods that support recognition
of these assets. The subsidiaries’ Management records
deferred tax assets in cases where it is reasonably certain
based on the projected profitability determined on the basis
of approved business plans that sufficient taxable income will 
be available.

The recognition and recoverability of DTA is considered a key
audit matter as it is sensitive to the assumptions used by
management in projecting the future taxable income.

Our audit procedures to address this key audit matter 
included, but were not limited to the following:

a) We obtained an understanding from the
subsidiaries’ management through detailed
discussions with respect to process for recording
deferred tax assets and assumptions used and
estimates made by management and tested the
operating effectiveness of the controls related to
aforementioned recognition;

b) We have obtained the approved business plans,
projected profitability statements and evaluated
the inputs used by the management with respect
to revenue and cost growth trends, among others,
for reasonableness thereof;

c) Tested the arithmetical accuracy of the calculations 
including those related to sensitivity analysis
performed by the management and performed
independent sensitivity analysis to test the impact
of possible variations in key assumptions;

d) We tested the underlying data for the key deferred
tax and tax provision calculations; and

e) We have evaluated the adequacy of disclosures
made by the Company in the financial statements
in view of the requirements as specified in the
Indian Accounting Standards

Information other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon

7. The Holding Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
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When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate 
the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

8. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been approved by the Holding Company’s Board of Directors. The 
Holding Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the Act with respect to the 
preparation and presentation of these consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of the consolidated 
financial position, consolidated financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated changes in equity 
and consolidated cash flows of the Group in accordance with the Ind AS specified under section 133 of the Act read with 
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. The 
respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Group and for preventing and detecting 
frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates 
that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that 
were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation 
and presentation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the 
Board of Directors of the Holding Company, as aforesaid.

9. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group 
are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intend to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

10. Those respective Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the companies 
included in the Group.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

11. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

12. As part of an audit in accordance with Standards on Auditing specified under section 143(10) of the Act we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify	and	assess	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control;
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•	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	internal	control	relevant	to	the	audit	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	
in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Act we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether 
the Holding Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in place and the 
operating effectiveness of such controls.;

•	 Evaluate	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	related	
disclosures made by management;

•	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	Board	of	Directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	the	
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern; and

•	 Evaluate	 the	 overall	 presentation,	 structure	 and	 content	 of	 the	 financial	 statements,	 including	 the	 disclosures,	 and	
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

•	 Obtain	sufficient	appropriate	audit	evidence	regarding	the	financial	information/	financial	statements	of	the	entities	or	
business activities within the Group, to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of financial statements of such entities included in the financial 
statements, of which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included in the financial statements, which 
have been audited by the other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

13. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

14. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

15. From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Other Matter

16. We did not audit the financial statements of 2 subsidiaries, whose financial statements reflects total assets of Rs. 295,764 lacs 
and net assets of Rs. 145,466 lacs as at 31 March 2023, total revenues of Rs. 125,532 lacs and net cash outflows amounting 
to Rs. 418 lacs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. These financial 
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statements have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the management and our opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements, in so far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these 
subsidiaries, and our report in terms of sub-section (3) of section 143 of the Act in so far as it relates to the aforesaid 
subsidiaries, are based solely on the reports of the other auditors.

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on other legal and regulatory requirements below, are 
not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our reliance on the work done by and the reports of the other auditors.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

17. As required by section 197(16) of the Act based on our audit and on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors, 
referred to in paragraph 16, on separate financial statements of the subsidiaries, we report that the Holding Company 
incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have paid remuneration to their respective 
directors during the year in accordance with the provisions of and limits laid down under section 197 read with Schedule V to 
the Act. Further, we report that 2 subsidiary companies incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited 
under the Act have not paid or provided for any managerial remuneration during the year. Accordingly, reporting under section 
197(16) of the Act is not applicable in respect of such subsidiary companies.

18. As required by clause (xxi) of paragraph 3 of Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (‘the Order’) issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of section 143(11) of the Act based on the consideration of the Order reports issued by us and 
by the respective other auditors as mentioned in paragraph 16 above, of companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements and covered under the Act we report that there are no qualifications or adverse remarks reported in the respective 
Order reports of such companies.

19. As required by section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit and on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors 
on separate financial statements and other financial information of the subsidiaries incorporated in India whose financial 
statements have been audited under the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 
necessary for the purpose of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated financial statements;

b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the reports of the 
other auditors;

c) The consolidated financial statements dealt with by this report are in agreement with the relevant books of account 
maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements;

d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with Ind AS specified under section 133 of the Act 
read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015;

e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company, its subsidiary 
companies and taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its subsidiary companies, 
respectively, and the reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiary companies, covered under the Act, none of 
the directors of the Group companies are disqualified as on 31 March 2023 from being appointed as a director in 
terms of section 164(2) of the Act.
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f) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding
Company, and its subsidiary companies, covered under the Act, and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to
our separate report in ‘Annexure II’ wherein we have expressed an unmodified opinion; and

g) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with rule 11 of the Companies
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our opinion and to the best of our information and according to
the explanations given to us and based on the consideration of the report of the other auditors on separate financial
statements and other financial information of the subsidiaries, incorporated in India whose financial statements have
been audited under the Act}:

i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact of pending litigations on the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as detailed in Note 54, 58 and 64 to the consolidated financial statements;

ii. provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements, as required under the applicable law or Ind AS,
for material foreseeable losses, on long-term contracts including derivative contracts, as detailed in note 58(a)(ii) to
the consolidated financial statements;

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the
Holding Company, and its subsidiary companies covered under the Act, during the year ended 31 March 2023;

iv. a.  The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies incorporated in India
whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented to us and the other auditors 
of such subsidiaries respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and belief , as disclosed in note 62(iii) 
to the consolidated financial statements, no funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from 
borrowed funds or securities premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Holding Company or its 
subsidiary companies, to or in any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (‘the intermediaries’), with 
the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the intermediary shall, whether, directly or 
indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the 
Holding Company, or any such subsidiary companies (‘the Ultimate Beneficiaries’) or provide any guarantee, 
security or the like on behalf the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

b. The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies, incorporated in
India whose financial statements have been audited under the Act have represented to us and the other
auditors of such subsidiaries respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, as disclosed
in the note 62(iv) to the accompanying consolidated financial statements, no funds have been received
by the Holding Company or its subsidiary companies from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign
entities (‘the Funding Parties’), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that
the Holding Company, or any such subsidiary companies shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or
invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding
Party (‘Ultimate Beneficiaries’) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate
Beneficiaries; and

c. Based on such audit procedures performed by us and that performed by the auditors of the subsidiaries, as
considered reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our or other auditors’ notice
that has caused us or the other auditors to believe that the management representations under sub-clauses (a)
and (b) above contain any material misstatement.
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v. The Holding Company and its subsidiary companies have not declared or paid any dividend during the year ended 31 
March 2023.

vi. Proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 requires all companies which use accounting software 
for maintaining their books of account, to use such an accounting software which has a feature of audit trail, with 
effect from the financial year beginning on 1 April 2023 and accordingly, reporting under Rule 11(g) of Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended) is not applicable for the current financial year.

For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP
 Chartered Accountants
 Firm’s Registration No.: 001076N/N500013

 Ashish Gupta
 Partner
Place: Noida Membership No.: 504662
Date: 12 May 2023 UDIN: 23504662BGWGDT6597
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List of subsidiary companies

1. Dish Infra Services Private Limited; and

2. C&S Medianet Private Limited

ANNEXURE I
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Independent Auditor’s Report on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements under Clause (i) of Sub-
section 3 of Section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (‘the Act’) 

1. In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of Dish TV India Limited (‘the Holding Company’) and 
its subsidiaries (the Holding Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as ‘the Group’), as at and for the year ended 
31 March 2023, we have audited the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding Company 
and its subsidiary companies, which are companies covered under the Act, as at that date.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for Internal Financial Controls

2. The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies, which are companies covered under 
the Act, are responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls based on the internal financial controls 
with reference to financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal 
control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting (‘the Guidance Note’) 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the ‘ICAI’). These responsibilities include the design, implementation 
and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient 
conduct of the Company’s business, including adherence to the Company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the 
prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely 
preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements 

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements of the 
Holding Company and its subsidiary companies, as aforesaid, based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
the Standards on Auditing issued by the ICAI prescribed under Section 143(10) of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, and the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI. Those Standards 
and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements were established and 
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.

4. Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference 
to financial statements includes obtaining an understanding of such internal financial controls, assessing the risk that a 
material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the other auditors in terms of their reports 
referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below, is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies as aforesaid.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements 

6. A company’s internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal financial controls with reference to financial 

ANNEXURE II
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statements include those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorisations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements 

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements, including the
possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may
occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

Opinion

8. In our opinion and based on the consideration of the reports of the other auditors on internal financial controls with reference
to financial statements of the subsidiary companies, the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies which are companies 
covered under the Act, have in all material respects, adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
and such controls were operating effectively as at 31 March 2023, based on the internal financial controls with reference to
financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in
the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.

Other Matter

9. We did not audit the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements in so far as it relates to 2 subsidiary
companies, which are companies covered under the Act, whose financial statements reflect total assets of ` 295,764 lacs and
net assets of ` 145,466 lacs as at 31 March 2023, total revenues of ` 125,532 lacs and net cash outflows amounting to ` 418
lacs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial statements. The internal financial controls
with reference to financial statements in so far as it relates to such subsidiary companies, have been audited by other auditors 
whose reports have been furnished to us by the management and our report on the adequacy and operating effectiveness of
the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements for the Holding Company and its subsidiary companies,
as aforesaid, under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act in so far as it relates to such subsidiary companies, is based solely on the
reports of the auditors of such companies. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter with respect to our reliance
on the work done by and on the reports of the other auditors.

For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP
Chartered Accountants

Firm’s Registration No.: 001076N/N500013

Ashish Gupta
Partner

Place: Noida Membership No.: 504662
Date: 12 May 2023 UDIN: 23504662BGWGDT6597
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
as at 31 March 2023 (All amounts in ` lacs, unless otherwise stated)
Particulars Notes As at  

31 March 2023 
As at  

31 March 2022 
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5  1,05,174  1,57,585 
Capital work-in-progress 6  27,729  50,610 
Goodwill 7  6  62,115 
Other intangible assets 8  375  82,068 
Intangible assets under development 9  37,519  45,564 
Financial assets

Investments 10  0  0 
Others financial assets 11  376  1,025 

Deferred tax assets (net) 12  1,59,792  1,19,306 
Income tax assets (net) 13  7,935  3,527 
Other non-current assets 14  35,718  72,325 

 3,74,624  5,94,125 
Current assets
Inventories 15  1,289  952 
Financial assets

Trade receivables 16  9,233  8,036 
Cash and cash equivalents 17  3,680  3,731 
Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalents 18  14,462  14,487 
Other financial assets 19  1,362  1,531 

Other current assets 20  45,966  43,596 
 75,992  72,333 

Assets classified as held for sale 34  -  337 
Total assets  4,50,616  6,66,795 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Equity share capital 21  18,413  18,413 
Other equity 22  (97,286)  75,190 
Equity attributable to owners of Holding Company  (78,873)  93,603 
Non-controlling interest  (6)  (6,061)

 (78,879)  87,542 
Liabilities 
Non-current liabilities
Financial liabilities

Borrowings 23  -  7,391 
Lease liability 24  196  189 

Provisions 25  1,121  1,885 
Other non-current liabilities 26  414  1,022 

 1,731  10,487 
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities

Borrowings 27  7,250  30,167 
Trade payables 28
-Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises  514  531 
-Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises  44,268  69,512 
Lease liability 29  14  14 
Other financial liabilities 30  8,752  12,825 

Other current liabilities 31  53,899  56,518 
Provisions 32  4,10,973  3,94,646 
Current tax liabilities 33  2,094  2,094 

 5,27,764  5,66,307 
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 34  -  2,459 
Total equity and liabilities  4,50,616  6,66,795 

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information forming part of the consolidated financial statements (1-66)
This is the Consolidated Balance Sheet referred to in our report of even date.

For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of DISH TV INDIA LIMITED
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.: 001076N/N500013

Ashish Gupta Shankar Aggarwal  Dr. (Mrs.) Rashmi Aggarwal  Anil Kumar Dua
Partner Independent Director  Independent Director   Chief Executive Officer 
Membership No. 504662 DIN: 02116442  DIN: 07181938 

Rajeev K. Dalmia  Ranjit Singh
Chief Financial Officer  Company Secretary

Place: Noida Place: Noida Membership no.: A15442
Date: 12 May 2023 Date: 12 May 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (All amounts in ` lacs, unless otherwise stated)
Particulars Notes  Year ended  

31 March 2023 
 Year ended  

31 March 2022 
Income
Revenue from operations 35  2,26,185  2,80,249 
Other income 36  3,320  2,392 
Total income  2,29,505  2,82,641 
Expenses
Purchases of stock-in-trade  2,366  2,256 
Changes in inventories of stock-in-trade 37  (250)  1,171 
Operating expenses 38  59,449  60,790 
Employee benefits expense 39  15,401  14,952 
Finance costs 40  27,798  32,458 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 41  84,910  1,07,090 
Other expenses 42  57,882  36,655 
Total expenses  2,47,556  2,55,372 
(Loss)/profit before exceptional items and tax  (18,051)  27,269 
Exceptional items 43  1,90,761  2,65,388 
(Loss) before tax  (2,08,812)  (2,38,119)
Tax expense:
Current tax  -  2,912 
Deferred tax  (40,458)  (54,308)
(Loss) after tax  (1,68,354)  (1,86,723)
Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurement of gains on defined benefit plan  (117)  39 
Income-tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss  30  (19)

Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation reserve  -  11,407 
Income-tax relating to items that will be reclassified to profit or loss  -  - 

Other comprehensive income for the year  (87)  11,427 
Total comprehensive income for the year  (1,68,441)  (1,75,296)
Profit is attributable to :

Owners of the holding Company  (1,68,354)  (1,83,136)
Non-controlling interests  (0)  (3,587)

Other comprehensive income is attributable to :
Owners of the holding Company  (87)  8,005 
Non-controlling interests  -  3,422 

Total comprehensive income is attributable to :
Owners of the holding Company  (1,68,441)  (1,75,131)
Non-controlling interests  (0)  (165)

Earning per share (EPS) (face value Re 1)
Basic 55  (8.75)  (9.51)
Diluted 55  (8.75)  (9.51)

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information forming part of the consolidated financial statements (1-66)

This is the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss referred to in our report of even date.
For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of DISH TV INDIA LIMITED
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.: 001076N/N500013

Ashish Gupta Shankar Aggarwal  Dr. (Mrs.) Rashmi Aggarwal  Anil Kumar Dua
Partner Independent Director  Independent Director   Chief Executive Officer 
Membership No. 504662 DIN: 02116442  DIN: 07181938 

Rajeev K. Dalmia  Ranjit Singh
Chief Financial Officer  Company Secretary

Place: Noida Place: Noida Membership no.: A15442
Date: 12 May 2023 Date: 12 May 2023
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (All amounts in ` lacs, unless otherwise stated)

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2023 

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2022 

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss before tax after exceptional items  (2,08,813)  (2,38,119)
Adjustments for :
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  84,910  1,07,090 
Loss on sale/discard of property, plant and equipment and capital work-in-progress  9,299  1,310 
Profit on sale of investment in a subsidiary  (51)  - 
Share based payment to employees  (15)  51 
Impairment on financial assets and advances  13,186  1,541 
Interest income on financial assets measured at amortised cost  -  (34)
Bad debts and balances written off  278  23 
Exceptional items  1,90,761  2,65,388 
Liabilities written back  (944)  (18)
Foreign exchange fluctuation (net)  (78)  35 
Interest expense  27,635  31,446 
Interest income  (1,135)  (1,376)
Operating profit before working capital changes  1,15,033  1,67,337 
Changes in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in inventories  (337)  1,172 
Increase in trade receivables  (1,933)  (270)
Decrease in other financial assets  561  570 
(Increase)/decrease in other assets  (2,000)  1,449 
Decrease in trade payables  (25,261)  (49,161)
Decrease in provisions  (9,751)  (6,418)
Decrease in other liabilities  (5,071)  (5,857)
Cash generated from operations  71,241  1,08,822 
Income-taxes (paid) / refund  (4,408)  5,300 
Net cash generated from operating activities (A)  66,833  1,14,122 
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (including adjustment for creditors for 
property, plant and equipment, work in progress and capital advances)

 (35,537)  (63,391)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  15  12 
Proceeds from sale of non-current investment  54  - 
Investments in bank deposits  (1,831)  (13,109)
Maturity of bank deposits  2,146  8,342 
Interest received  1,102  1,290 
Net cash used in investing activities (B)  (34,051)  (66,856)
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 For the year ended 
 31 March 2023 

 For the year ended 
 31 March 2022 

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid  (2,525)  (7,290)
Repayments of long term borrowings  (26,188)  (31,177)
Repayment of short term borrowings(net)  (4,120)  (10,902)
Net cash used in financing activities (C)  (32,833)  (49,369)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C)  (51)  (2,103)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  3,731  5,836 
Cash and cash equivalents classified as held for sale  -  (2)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  3,680  3,731 
Cash and cash equivalents includes:
Balances with scheduled banks :
- in current accounts  3,483  3,536 
Cheques, drafts on hand  191  189 
Cash on hand  6  6 
Cash and cash equivalents (refer note 17)  3,680  3,731 

(a) The above cash flow statement has been prepared under the “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian Accounting Standard 7 (Ind 
AS-7) on “Statements of Cash Flows”.

(b) Figures in brackets indicate cash outflow.

(c) Additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets include movements of capital work-in-progress, intangible
assets under development, capital advances and creditors for capital goods respectively during the year.

(d) Refer note 27.1 for reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities as set out in Ind AS-7

Significant accounting policies and other explanatory information forming part of the consolidated financial statements (1-66)

This is the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement referred to in our report of even date

For Walker Chandiok & Co LLP For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of DISH TV INDIA LIMITED
Chartered Accountants
Firm’s Registration No.: 001076N/N500013

Ashish Gupta Shankar Aggarwal  Dr. (Mrs.) Rashmi Aggarwal Anil Kumar Dua
Partner Independent Director Independent Director   Chief Executive Officer 
Membership No. 504662 DIN: 02116442  DIN: 07181938 

Rajeev K. Dalmia  Ranjit Singh
Chief Financial Officer Company Secretary

Place: Noida Place: Noida Membership no.: A15442
Date: 12 May 2023 Date: 12 May 2023

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (All amounts in ` lacs, unless otherwise stated)
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1. Background

Dish TV India Limited (‘Dish TV’ or ‘the Company’ or ‘the parent company’) and its subsidiaries [refer to note 4(c) below], 
together referred as ‘the Group’, is engaged in the business of providing Direct to Home (‘DTH’) and Teleport services.

2. General information and statement of compliance with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS)

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Ind AS as notified by Ministry of 
Corporate Affairs (‘MCA’) under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 (‘the Act’) read with the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules 2015, as amended and other provisions of the Act and the presentation and disclosure requirement of 
Division II of Schedule III to the Act and the guidelines issued by the Securities and Exchange Board of India to the extent 
applicable. The Group has uniformly applied the accounting policies during the periods presented.

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2023 were authorised and approved for issue by Board of 
Directors on 12 May 2023.

3. Recent accounting pronouncement

Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standards or amendments to the existing standards under Companies 
(IndianAccounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to time. On 31 March 2023, MCA amended the Companies (Indian 
Accounting Standards) Amendment Rules, 2023, as below:

Ind AS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements

This amendment requires the entities to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant accounting 
policies. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023. The Group has 
evaluated the amendment and the impact of the amendment is insignificant in the financial statements.

Ind AS 8: Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

This amendment has introduced a definition of ‘accounting estimates’ and included amendments to Ind AS 8 to help entities distinguish 
changes in accounting policies from changes in accounting estimates. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and there is no impact on its financial statements.

Ind AS 12: Income Taxes

This amendment has narrowed the scope of the initial recognition exemption so that it does not apply to transactions that 
give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. The effective date for adoption of this amendment is annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 April 2023. The Group has evaluated the amendment and there is no impact on its financial statement.

3. A. Amended Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and interpretations effective during the year

Ind AS 103 - Reference to Conceptual Framework

The amendments specify that to qualify for recognition as part of applying the acquisition method, the identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of assets and liabilities in the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting under Indian Accounting Standards (Conceptual Framework) issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India at the acquisition date. These changes do not significantly change the requirements of Ind AS 103. 
The amendment did not have any material impact on financial statements of the Group.
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Ind AS 16 - Proceeds before intended use

The amendment specify that an entity shall deduct from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds 
received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. The amendment did not 
have any material impact on financial statements of the Group.

Ind AS 37 Onerous Contracts - Costs of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. 
Costs that relate directly to a contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (examples would be direct 
labour, materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts. The amendment is essentially 
a clarification and the amendment did not have any material impact on financial statements of the Group.

Ind AS 109 - Annual Improvements to Ind AS (2021)

The amendment clarifies which fees an entity includes when it applies the ‘10 percent’ test of Ind AS 109 in assessing whether 
to derecognise a financial liability. The amendment did not have any material impact on financial statements of the Group.

4. Significant accounting policies

a) Overall considerations

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounting policies and measurement
bases summarised below.

These accounting policies have been used throughout all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

b) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in India. Further, the financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for certain
financial assets, financial liabilities, plan assets related to defined benefit obligation and share based payments which
are measured at fair values as explained in relevant accounting policies.

Further the management believes that it is appropriate to prepare these financial statements on a going concern basis
considering available resources, current level of operations of the Group, and those projected for foreseeable future.

c) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS)
as notified by Ministry of Corporate Affairs (‘MCA’) under section 133 of the Companies Act 2013 (‘the Act’) read with
the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015. The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the
following basis:

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
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ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the relevant activities of the entity. The Group can have power 
over the investee even if it owns less than majority voting rights i.e. rights arising from other contractual arrangements. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases. Statement of profit and loss (including other comprehensive income (‘OCI’)) of 
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are recognized from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the 
effective date of disposal, as applicable.

The Group combines the financial statements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries line by line adding together 
like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s statement of profit and loss 
and net assets that is not held by the Group. Statement of profit and loss balance (including other comprehensive income 
(‘OCI’)) is attributed to the equity holders of the Holding Company and to the non-controlling interests on the basis the 
respective ownership interests and such balance is attributed even if this results in controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

Joint ventures

Interest in joint venture are accounted for using the equity method, after initially being recognized at cost. The carrying 
amount of the investment is adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change in the share of net assets of the investee, 
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group. The consolidated statement 
of profit and loss (including the other comprehensive income) includes the Group’s share of the results of the operations 
of the investee. Dividends received or receivable from joint ventures are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount 
of the investment.

The companies considered in the consolidated financial statements are:

Name of the company Nature Country of 
incorporation

% shareholding 
As at 

31 March 2023

% shareholding 
As at 

31 March 2022

Dish TV India Limited Holding Company India - -

Dish T V Lanka (Private) Limited Subsidiary Company Sri Lanka - 70

Dish Infra Services Private Limited Subsidiary Company India 100 100

C&S Medianet Private Limited Subsidiary Company India 51 51

d) Current versus non-current classification

All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current, wherever applicable as per the operating cycle 
of the Group and other criteria set out in the Act. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets 
and non-current liabilities, as the case may be.
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e) Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred by the Group to 
obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred, liabilities 
incurred, the equity interests issued and fair value of contingent consideration issued. Acquisition-related costs are 
expensed as and when incurred.

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are 
subsequently re-measured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of Ind AS 
109 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised either in profit or loss or as a 
change to OCI. If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of Ind AS 109, it is measured in accordance with the 
appropriate Ind AS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent settlement 
is accounted for within equity.

If the contingent consideration is not within the scope of Ind AS 109, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate 
Ind AS. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured and subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity.

Goodwill is measured as excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling 
interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the 
net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the resulting gain on bargain purchase is recognised 
in OCI and accumulated in equity as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity 
recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve, without routing the same through other comprehensive income.

f) Property, plant and equipment and capital work in progress

Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and initial measurement

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at the cost of acquisition. The cost comprises purchase price, borrowing cost if 
capitalization criteria are met and directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition for the intended use 
upto the date when the assets are ready for use. Any trade discount, recoverable taxes and rebates are deducted in arriving at 
the purchase price. All other repairs and maintenance are recognized in statement of profit and loss as incurred.

Consumer premises equipments (CPE) including viewing cards (VC) are treated as part of capital work in progress till the 
time of activation thereof, post which the same gets depreciated. Capital work in progress is valued at cost.

Subsequent measurement (Depreciation and useful lives)

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at cost less depreciation and impairment loss. Depreciation 
on property, plant and equipment is provided on straight line method, computed on the basis of useful lives (as set out 
below) prescribed in Schedule II, of the Act, as under:
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Asset category Useful life (in years)

Plant and equipments 7.5

Building 30

Office equipments except mobile 5

Mobiles 2.5

Furniture and fixtures 10

Electrical installations 10

Vehicles 8

Computers

Laptops, desktops and other devices 3

Servers and networks 6

In case of following category, life of the assets have been assessed as under based on technical advice taking into account 
the nature of assets, estimated usage of the assets, the operating conditions of assets, past history of replacement, 
anticipated technological changes etc.

i) CPEs including Viewing Cards (VC) are depreciated over their useful life of five years, as estimated by the management.

ii) Aircraft is depreciated over the estimated useful life of ten years.

De-recognition

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal 
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount) is included in the statement of 
profit and loss when the respective asset is derecognised.

g) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually identified 
and separately recognised. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

h) Other intangible assets

Recognition and initial measurement

Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. These assets are valued at cost which comprises the 
purchase price and any directly attributable expenditure on making the asset ready for its intended use.

Fee paid for acquiring license to operate DTH services, is capitalized as intangible asset.
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Customer and distributor relationships are recorded at the cost of acquisition. Cost of acquisition has been determined 
as the fair market value assessed by independent valuer based on projected economic income attributable to the Group 
as per valuation of merger scheme.

Brand is recorded at the cost of acquisition. Cost of acquisition has been determined as the fair market value assessed 
by independent valuer based on projected economic income attributable to the Group as per valuation of merger scheme.

Cost of computer software includes license fees, cost of implementation and directly attributable system integration 
expenses. These costs are capitalized as intangible assets in the year in which related software is implemented.

Subsequent measurement (amortisation)

i) Fees paid for acquiring licenses to operate DTH services is amortised over the period of license and other license 
fees are amortized over the management estimate of useful life of five years.

ii) The economic life of customer and distributor relationship assets are usually determined by estimating future loyalty 
of customers. Management has assessed that the economic useful life of the customer and distributor relationship 
to be of ten years.

iii) The brands have been acquired for a perpetual period. Based on all the factors the Group has considered life of brand 
till perpetuity.

iv) Software are amortised over an estimated life of one year to five years.

i) Impairment of non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication based on internal/external factors, that an 
asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. If such 
recoverable amount of the asset or the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs is less 
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount and the reduction is treated as an 
impairment loss and is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. If, at the reporting date there is an indication that 
a previously assessed impairment loss no longer exists, the recoverable amount is reassessed and the asset is reflected 
at the recoverable amount. Impairment losses previously recognized are accordingly reversed in the statement of profit 
and loss.

j) Impairment of financial assets

In accordance with Ind AS 109, the Group applies expected credit loss (ECL) model for measurement and recognition of 
impairment loss for financial assets. ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group 
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. When estimating the cash flows, 
the Group is required to consider –

i) All contractual terms of the financial assets (including prepayment and extension) over the expected life of the 
assets.

ii) Cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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Trade receivables

The Group applies simplified approach permitted by Ind AS 109 Financial Instruments, which requires lifetime expected 
credit losses to be recognised from the date of initial recognition of receivables.

Other financial assets

For recognition of impairment loss on other financial assets and risk exposure, the Group determines whether there 
has been a significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition and if credit risk has increased significantly, 
impairment loss is provided.

k) Inventories

i) Inventories of customer premises equipment (CPE) related accessories and spares are valued at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost of inventories includes all costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less any applicable selling expenses.

ii) Digital Content:

Digital content i.e. web series, film rights, music rights (completed (commissioned/acquired) and under production)
including content in digital form are stated at lower of cost/unamortised cost or realisable value. Cost comprises
acquisition/direct production cost. Where the realisable value of media content is less than its carrying amount, the
difference is expensed. Programmes, film rights, music rights are expensed/amortised as under

a) Web series are amortised over three financial years starting from the year of first telecast/upload, as per
management estimate of future revenue potential.

b) Film rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over the licensed period or sixty months from the
commencement of rights, whichever is shorter.

c) Music rights are amortised over three financial years starting from the year of commencement of rights, as per
management estimate of future revenue potential.

d) Reality shows, chat shows, events, game shows, etc. are fully expensed on telecast/upload.

l) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue
can be reliably measured.

Revenue towards satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured at the amount of transaction price (net of variable
consideration) allocated to that performance obligation. The transaction price of goods sold and services rendered is
net of variable consideration on account of various discounts and schemes offered by the Group as part of the contract.
The Group applies the revenue recognition criteria to each nature of the sales and services transaction as set out below,
pursuant to Indian Accounting Standard -115 “Revenue from contracts with customers” (Ind AS 115) which establishes a
comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is to be recognised.
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i) Revenue from rendering of services

- Revenue from subscription services is recognized over the subscription pack validity period. Revenue is 
recognised net of taxes collected from the customer, collection charges and any discount given. Consideration 
received in advance for subscription services is initially deferred and included in other liabilities.

- Lease rental is recognized as revenue as per the terms of the contract over the period of lease contract on a 
straight line basis.

- Activation fee is recognised on an upfront basis considering the level of services rendered on activation, the 
corresponding cost incurred and separate consideration charged for the subsequent continuing services.

- Revenue from other services (viz Bandwidth charges, teleport services, field repairs of CPE, advertisement 
income) are recognized on rendering of the services.

- Infrastructure support fees is recognised on the basis of fixed rate agreement on the basis of active customers.

ii) Revenue from sale of goods

- Revenue from sale of stock-in-trade is recognised when the products are dispatched against orders to the 
customers in accordance with the contract terms and the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant 
risks and rewards.

- Sales are stated net of rebates, trade discounts, sales returns and taxes on sales.

iii) Interest income

- Income from deployment of surplus funds is recognised on accrual basis using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

m) Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupees (Rs.) which is also the functional and presentation currency of the Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are recorded in the functional currency, by applying the exchange rate between the 
functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

Non-monetary items denominated in a foreign currency are converted in functional currency at the rate prevailing on the 
date of transactions and the same are carried at historical cost.

Foreign currency monetary items are converted to functional currency using the closing rate.

Exchange differences arising on such conversion and settlement at rates different from those at which they were initially 
recorded, are recognized in the statement of profit and loss in the year in which they arise.

n) Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs include interest and other costs that the Group incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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In case of significant long-term loans, other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds are amortised over 
the period of respective loan.

o) Employee benefits

Employee benefits include provident fund, pension fund, gratuity and compensated absences

Defined contribution plan

The Group deposits the contributions for provident fund and employees’ state insurance to the appropriate government 
authorities and these contributions are recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the financial year to which they relate.

Defined benefit plan

The Group’s gratuity scheme is a defined benefit plan. The present value of the obligation under such defined benefit plan 
is determined based on actuarial valuation carried out at the end of the year by an independent actuary, using the projected 
unit credit method, which recognises each period of service as giving rise to additional unit of employee benefit entitlement 
and measures each unit separately to build up the final obligation. The obligation is measured at the present value of the 
estimated future cash flows. The discount rates used for determining the present value of the obligation under defined benefit 
plans is based on the market yields on Government Securities for relevant maturity. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised 
immediately in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income. The Group has done contribution to the Gratuity plan with LIC.

Other long term employee benefits

Benefits under the Group’s compensated absences constitute other long-term employee benefits. The liability in respect of 
compensated absences is provided on the basis of an actuarial valuation done by an independent actuary using the projected 
unit credit method at the year end. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

Short-term employee benefits

All employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of rendering the service are classified as short-term employee 
benefits. Benefits such as salaries, wages, and bonus, etc., are recognised in the statement of profit and loss in the 
period in which the employee renders the related service.

p) Employee stock option scheme

The fair value of options granted under Employee Stock Option Plan of the Group is recognised as an employee benefits expense 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options. 
The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to 
be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on 
the non-market vesting and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in statement 
of profit and loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity. Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received are allocated 
to share capital up to the par value of the shares issued with any excess being recorded as share premium.

q) Leases

The Groups’s lease asset classes primarily consist of leases for land. The Group assesses whether a contract contains a 
lease, at inception of a contract. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of 
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to 
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control the use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether: (1) the contract involves the use of an identified asset, 
(2) the Group has substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset through the period of the lease, and 
(3) the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.

At the date of commencement of the lease, the Group recognizes a Right of use (ROU) asset and a corresponding lease 
liability for all lease arrangements under which it is a lessee, except for short-term leases and low value leases. For 
short-term leases and low value leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease.

Certain lease arrangements include options to extend or terminate the lease before the end of the lease term. ROU 
assets and lease liabilities include these options when it is reasonably certain that they will be exercised.

The ROU assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for 
any lease payments made at or prior to the commencement date of the lease plus any initial direct costs less any lease 
incentives. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

ROU assets are depreciated from the date of commencement of the lease on a straight -line basis over the shorter of the 
lease term and the useful life of the underlying asset

The lease liability is initially measured at amortized cost at the present value of the future lease payments. For leases 
under which the rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate 
based on the information available at the date of commencement of the lease in determining the present value of lease 
payments. Lease liabilities are re measured with a corresponding adjustment to the related ROU asset if the Group 
changes its assessment as to whether it will exercise an extension or a termination option.

ROU assets has been disclosed under property plant and equipements and corresponding lease liability has been shown 
under financial liability in the Balance sheet.

Company as a lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset are classified 
as operating leases. The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature. Rental income 
is recognized on straight line basis over the lease term.

r) Earnings per share

Basic earning per share are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable to equity shareholders 
by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the year.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the year attributable to equity 
shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential equity shares.

s) Equity, reserves and dividend payment

Equity shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Retained earnings include current and prior period retained profits. 
All transactions with owners of the Parent Company are recorded separately within equity.
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t) Taxation

Tax expense recognized in statement of profit and loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax except the ones 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax is determined as the tax payable in respect of taxable income for the year and is computed in accordance with 
relevant tax regulations.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between carrying amount of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and corresponding amount used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax assets on unrealised 
tax loss are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss will be utilised against future taxable 
income. This is assessed based on the Group’s forecast of future operating results, adjusted for significant non-taxable 
income and expenses and specific limits on the use of any unused tax loss. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-
assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits 
will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the reporting date. Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised either in 
other comprehensive income or in equity.

Unused tax credit such as (Minimum alternate tax (‘MAT’) credit entitlement) is recognized as an asset only when and to the extent 
there is convincing evidence that the Group will pay normal income-tax during the specified period. In the year in which such 
credit becomes eligible to be recognized as an asset, the said asset is created by way of a credit to the statement of profit and loss 
and shown as unused tax credit. The Group reviews the same at each balance sheet date and writes down the carrying amount of 
unused tax credit to the extent it is not reasonably certain that the Group will pay normal income-tax during the specified period.

u) Operating cycle

All assets and liabilities have been classified as current or non-current as per the Group’s normal operating cycle and 
other criteria as set out in the Division II of Schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013. The Group has ascertained its normal 
operating cycle as twelve months. This is based on the nature of services and the time between the acquisition of assets 
or inventories for processing and their realisation in cash and cash equivalents.

v) Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or as incurred.

w) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker (CODM). Basis the review of operations being done by the CODM, the operations of the Group fall under 
Direct to Home (‘DTH’) and teleport services, which is considered to be the only reportable segment.

x) Provisions, contingent liabilities, commitments and contingent assets

The Group recognises a provision when there is a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is more likely than 
not that there will be an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits to settle such obligations and the amount of 
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such obligation can be reliably estimated. Provisions are discounted to their present value (where time value of money is 
material) and are determined based on the management’s estimation of the outflow required to settle the obligation at the 
balance sheet date. These are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect current management estimates.

Contingent liabilities are disclosed in respect of possible obligations that have arisen from past events and the existence of 
which will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of future events, not wholly within the control of the Group. 
Contingent liabilities are also disclosed for the present obligations that have arisen from past events in respect of which it is not 
probable that there will be an outflow of resources or a reliable estimate of the amount of obligation cannot be made.

When there is an obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources is remote, no provision or disclosure is made.

Contingent assets are neither recognised nor disclosed except when realisation of income is virtually certain, related 
asset is disclosed.

y) Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted for transaction costs, except for those carried at 
fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value. However, trade receivables that do not contain 
a significant financing component are measured at transaction price. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities is described below.

Financial assets

Subsequent measurement

Financial asset at amortised cost – the financial instrument is measured at the amortised cost if both the following 
conditions are met:

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting contractual cash flows; and

b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest (‘SPPI’) on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method.

Investments in equity instruments of subsidiaries and joint ventures

Investments in equity instruments of subsidiaries and joint ventures are accounted for at cost in accordance with Ind AS 
27 Separate Financial Statements.

Investments in other equity instruments which are held for trading are classified as at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL). For all other equity instruments, the Group makes an irrevocable choice upon initial recognition, on an 
instrument by instrument basis, to classify the same either as at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) 
or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
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Investments in mutual funds

Investments in mutual funds are measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL).

Derivative instruments – derivatives such as options and forwards are carried at fair value through profit and loss with 
fair gains/losses recognised in statement of profit and loss.

De-recognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily de-recognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the 
Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset.

Financial liabilities

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is de-recognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms or the terms of 
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the 
original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in 
the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet if there is a 
currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

z) Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instruments such as investments, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair value is the 
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability at the measurement date.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the standalone financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole:

•	 Level	1	—	Quoted	(unadjusted)	market	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities.

•	 Level	2	—	Valuation	techniques	for	which	the	lowest	level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	measurement	is	
directly or indirectly observable.

•	 Level	3	—	Valuation	techniques	for	which	the	lowest	level	input	that	is	significant	to	the	fair	value	measurement	is	
unobservable.
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For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

aa) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash at bank and in hand, cheques in hand and short term investments that are 
readily convertible into known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

ab) Cash flow statement

Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, whereby profit before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions 
of non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash receipts or payments. The cash flows from 
operating, investing and financing activities of the Group are segregated based on the available information.

ac) Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

An entity shall classify a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when 
the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for 
sale of such asset and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed to sale which should be expected to 
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are presented separately and measured at the lower of their carrying 
amounts immediately prior to their classification as held for sale and their fair value less costs to sell. However, some 
held for sale assets such as financial assets, assets arising from employee benefits and deferred tax assets, continue to 
be measured in accordance with the Group’s relevant accounting policy for those assets. Once classified as held for sale, 
the assets are not subject to depreciation or amortisation.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale. 
Profit or loss from discontinued operations comprise the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations and the post-
tax gain or loss resulting from the measurement and disposal of assets classified as held for sale. Any profit or loss 
arising from the sale or re-measurement of discontinued operations is presented as part of a single line item, profit or 
loss from discontinued operations.

ad) Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of 
contingent liabilities on the date of the financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting periods. 
Although these estimates are based upon management’s knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could 
differ from those estimates and revisions, if any, are recognised in the current and future periods.

Significant management judgements

The following are significant management judgements in applying the accounting policies of the Group that have the most 
significant effect on the financial statements.
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Recognition of deferred tax assets: The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognized is based on an assessment 
of the probability of the future taxable income against which the deferred tax assets can be utilized.

Evaluation of indicators for impairment of assets: The evaluation of applicability of indicators of impairment of assets 
requires assessment of several external and internal factors which could result in deterioration of recoverable amount 
of the assets.

Classification of leases: The Group enters into leasing arrangements for various assets. The classification of the leasing 
arrangement as a finance lease or operating lease is based on an assessment of several factors, including, but not limited 
to, transfer of ownership of leased asset at end of lease term, lessee’s option to purchase and estimated certainty of 
exercise of such option, proportion of lease term to the asset’s economic life, proportion of present value of minimum lease 
payments to fair value of leased asset and extent of specialized nature of the leased asset. The Group has also factored in 
overall time period of rent agreements to arrive at lease period to recognise rental income on straight line basis.

Contingent liabilities: At each balance sheet date basis the management judgment, changes in facts and legal aspects, 
the Group assesses the requirement of provisions against the outstanding warranties and guarantees. However, the 
actual future outcome may be different from this judgement.

Significant estimates

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and measurement of 
assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be different.

Impairment of financial assets: At each balance sheet date, based on historical default rates observed over expected life, 
the management assesses the expected credit loss on outstanding receivables.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets: At each balance sheet date, goodwill is tested for impairment. The 
recoverable amount of cash generating unit (CGU) is determined based on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less 
cost to sell. Key assumptions on which the management has based its determination of recoverable amount include 
estimated long-term growth rates, weighted average cost of capital and estimated operating margins. The cash flow 
projections take into account past experience and represent the management’s best estimate about future developments. 
Cash flow projections based on financial budgets are approved by management.

Defined benefit obligation (DBO): Management’s estimate of the DBO is based on a number of critical underlying 
assumptions such as standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount rate and anticipation of future salary increases. 
Variation in these assumptions may significantly impact the DBO amount and the annual defined benefit expenses.

Fair value measurements: Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments 
(where active market quotes are not available). This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how 
market participants would price the instrument.

Useful lives of depreciable/amortisable assets: Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable/
amortisable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates 
relate to technical and economic obsolescence that may change the utility of certain software, customer relationships, IT 
equipment and other plant and equipment.
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6. Capital work in progress

Particulars  Amount 
Gross carrying value 
As at 1 April 2021  39,528 
Additions  53,637 
Disposal/adjustment  (1,307)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment  (41,248)
As at 31 March 2022  50,610 
Additions  37,683 
Disposal/adjustment  (9,299)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment  (51,265)
As at 31 March 2023  27,729 

Capital work in progress 

Refer note 23 and 27 for information on property, plant and equipment pledged as security by the Group.

6.1 Ageing of Capital work-in progress

 As at 31 March 2023 
 Capital work in progress  Less than 1 year  1-2 years  2-3 years  More than 3 years  Total 
 Projects in progress 22,591  598  528  4,012  27,729 
 Projects temporarily suspended -  -  -  -  - 

22,591  598  528  4,012  27,729 
There are no projects whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its original plan as at 31 March 2023

 As at 31 March 2022 
 Capital work in progress  Less than 1 year  1-2 years  2-3 years  More than 3 years  Total 
 Projects in progress 45,407  1,154  607  3,442  50,610 
 Projects temporarily suspended -  -  -  -  - 

45,407  1,154  607  3,442  50,610 
There are no projects whose completion is overdue or has exceeded its cost compared to its original plan as at 31 March 2022

7. Goodwill

Particulars  31 March 2023  31 March 2022 
Opening balance  62,115  2,23,802 
Impairment of goodwill (refer footnote)  (62,109)  (1,61,687)
Closing balance  6  62,115 

Impairment tests for Goodwill

Goodwill is monitored by management at the level of D2h division acquired pursuant to merger of the Parent Company with 
erstwhile Videocon D2h Limited
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A summary of goodwill allocation and carrying value is presented below:

 Particulars  31 March 2023  31 March 2022 
 D2h Infra CGU  -  62,109 
 Total  -  62,109 

Impairment testing of the goodwill (allocated to the D2H CGU) is being performed at each balance sheet date. The recoverable 
amount of cash generating unit is determined based on the higher of value-in-use and fair value less cost to sell. Value in use is 
determined basis cash flow projections which is being prepared taking in to account past experience and represent the management’s 
best estimate about future developments. Cash flow projections based on financial budgets are approved by management. Key 
assumptions on which the management has based its determination of recoverable amount include estimated long-term growth 
rates, weighted average cost of capital and estimated operating margins. The impairment loss, if any, determined as a result of 
the assessment is first applied to the carrying value of Goodwill allocated to D2H CGU and then to the other intangible assets 
consisting in the CGU in accordance with the manner prescribed in Ind AS 36. Based on above, at the current reporting date, an 
impairment loss amounting to Rs. 1,62,761 lacs (previous year Rs. 2,33,457 lacs) has been determined in respect of D2H CGU. Out of 
the total provision for impairment, Rs. 62,109 lacs (previous year Rs. 1,61,687 lacs) has been adjusted against the carrying value of 
goodwill and balance amount has been allocated to the related other intangible assets and tangible assets, accordingly there is an 
impairment charge of Rs. 11,055 lacs (previous year Rs. 71,770 lacs), Rs. 56,786 lacs (previous year Rs. Nil), Rs. 2,185 lacs (previous 
year Rs. Nil) and Rs. 30,626 lacs (previous year Rs. Nil) in the value of trademark/brand, customer and distributor relationship, plant 
and equipments and consumer premises equipments respectively in the manner prescribed in Ind AS 36.

A summary of value in use and amount of impairment of D2h division during the financial year is given below:

 31 March 2023  31 March 2022 
D2h Infra CGU D2h CGU D2h Infra CGU D2h CGU

Present value of discounted cash flows over 5 years 48,735 53,361 80,326 1,13,088
Present value of terminal cash flow 46,709 44,589 1,22,112 1,61,396
Total value in use 95,444 97,950 2,02,438 2,74,484
Less: Contingent liability - 45,658 - 45,658
Less: Borrowing and license fees payable 51,444 1,86,790 60,438 1,79,459
Less: Net working capital 3,875 (20,923) (8,800) (29,363)
Net recoverable amount 40,125 - 1,50,800 78,730
Less: Carrying value of PPE, goodwill and other intangible at reporting date 1,39,247 63,639 3,12,487 1,50,500
Total provision for impairment (99,122) (63,639) (1,61,687) (71,770)
Opening carrying value of goodwill of D2h CGU 62,109 - 2,23,796 -
Provision for impairment (refer note 43) 62,109 - 1,61,687 -
Closing carrying value of goodwill - - 62,109 -
Provision for impairment customer and distributor relationship (refer 
note 43)

7,001 49,785 - -

Provision for impairment trademark/brand (refer note 43) - 11,055 - 71,770
Provision for impairment property, plant and equipment (refer note 43) 30,012 2,799 - -
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Key assumptions used for value in use calculation are as follows:

- The Group prepares its cash flow forecast based on the most recent financial budget approved by management with 
projected revenue growth rate. Average monthly revenue per user is expected to grow at 2% per year.

- Terminal growth rate is assumed at 2% and is based on industry growth rate and projected growth of Indian economy.

- The EBIDTA margin is expected to be at the same level through out the projected period.

- The free cash flow arrived at were discounted to present value using weighted average cost of capital (WACC) at the rate 
14% (previous year 13-13.50%%). The sum of the discounted cash flows along with the discounted terminal value is the 
estimated enterprise value.

8. Other intangible assets

Particulars  Trademark 
/ Brand 

 License 
fee 

 Software  Customer and 
Distributor Relationship 

 Total 

Gross carrying value 
As at 1 April 2021  1,02,909  3,225  10,721  1,26,134  2,42,989 
Additions  -  171  2  -  173 
Foreign currency translation (gain)/loss  -  (1)  -  -  (1)
As at 31 March 2022  1,02,909  3,395  10,723  1,26,134  2,43,161 
Additions  -  215  -  -  215 
As at 31 March 2023  1,02,909  3,610  10,723  1,26,134  2,43,376 
Accumulated amortisation 
As at 1 April 2021  20,084  2,216  8,912  44,119  75,331 
Charge for the year  -  355  1,024  12,614  13,993 
Impairment for the year (refer note below)  71,770  -  -  -  71,770 
Foreign currency translation (gain)/loss  -  (1)  -  -  (1)
As at 31 March 2022  91,854  2,570  9,936  56,733  1,61,093 
Charge for the year  -  838  614  12,615  14,067 
Impairment for the year (refer note below)  11,055  -  -  56,786  67,841 
As at 31 March 2023  1,02,909  3,408  10,550  1,26,134  2,43,001 
Net block as at 31 March 2022  11,055  825  787  69,401  82,068 
Net block as at 31 March 2023  -  202  173  -  375 

(‘0’ represent the amount less than Rs. 50,000 rounded off to Rs. lacs) 

Contractual obligation

Refer note 58 (b) for disclosure of contractual commitments for the acquisition of intangible assets.

Note:

Please refer to Note 7, impairment testing of goodwill includes other intangible assets also and consequently the impact 
of impairment assessment as mentioned in said note on the D2H CGU, has been allocated to the related goodwill, other 
intangible assets and tangible assets, accordingly an adjustment of Rs. 67,841 lacs (previous year Rs. 71,770 lacs) on account 
of impairment loss in the carrying value of brand and customer and distributor relationship belonging to D2H CGU has been 
made.
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9. Intangible assets under development

In line with the business plan of investing in new age technologies, inter alia, Watcho the OTT platform, networking equipments 
and customer premises equipments (CPE), Dish Infra Services Private Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary Company had made 
significant progress in augmenting these new age technologies in previous year. The subsidiary Company had contracted with 
aggregators for content and related infrastructure and recorded Rs. 37,519 lacs (net of impairment) as intangible assets 
under development and Rs. 20,238 lacs as related capital advances as of 31 March 2023. 

The management of the subsidiary Company with the help of independent valuation experts, has performed a detailed 
impairment assessment of Intangible assets under development in accordance with Ind AS 36 “Impairment of assets” as of 
31 March 2023 and has consequently recorded Rs. 28,000 Lacs ( previous year Rs. 20,300 Lacs) as an impairment charge for 
the year ended 31 March 2023, which has been disclosed as an exceptional item.

A summary of value in use and amount of impairment during the financial year is given below,

Intangible assets under development
 Particulars  31 March 2023  31 March 2022
Present value of discounted cash flows over 5 years  4,379  8,184 
Present value of terminal cash flow  33,140  57,380 
Total value in use  37,519  65,564 
Net recoverable amount  37,519  65,564 
Carrying value of Intangible assets under development and related advances  65,519  85,864 
Total provision for impairment  (28,000)  (20,300)
Carrying value of Intangible assets under development  65,519  65,864 
Closing carrying value of Intangible assets under development (net of provision 
for impairment)

 37,519  45,564 

Key assumptions used for value in use calculation are as fallows:

- The Company prepares its cash flow forecast based on the most recent financial budget approved by management with 
projected revenue growth rate. Average Monthly Revenue per user is expected to grow at 5% per year.

- Terminal growth rate is assumed at 3.5% and is based on industry growth rate and projected growth of Indian economy.

- The EBIDTA margin is expected to be at the same level through out the projected period.

- The free cash flow arrived at were discounted to present value using WACC at the rate 26% (previous year 23.50%.) The 
sum of the discounted cash flows along with the discounted terminal value is the estimated Enterprise Value.

9.1 Intangible assets under development ageing schedule

 As at 31 March 2023 
Intangible assets under development Amount in intangible assets under development for a period of  Total 

 Less than 1 year  1-2 years  2-3 years  More than 3 years 
Projects in progress  19,955  10,664  2,700  52,500  85,819 
Projects temporarily suspended  -  -  -  -  - 
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As at 31 March 2022 
Intangible assets under development Amount in intangible assets under development for a period of  Total 

Less than 1 year  1-2 years  2-3 years  More than 3 years 
Projects in progress  10,664  2,700  52,500  -  65,864 
Projects temporarily suspended  -  -  -  -  - 

10. Investments (non-current) 

In equity instruments

Equity shares fully paid up of other companies carried at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (unquoted)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Dr. Subhash Chandra Foundation* 
1 ( 31 March 2022: 1) equity shares of Rs. 10, each fully paid up 

 0  0 

(* Rs 10 as on 31 March 2023 ( 31 March 2022: Rs 10), rounded off to Rs lacs)
 0  0 

Aggregate amount of quoted investments and market value thereof  -  - 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  0  0 
Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of investments  -  - 

 0  0 

(‘0’ represent the amount less than Rs. 50,000 rounded off to Rs. Lacs)

11. Other financial assets (non-current)

Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Security deposit
Others  349  708 

Others
Bank deposits with more than 12 months maturity*  27  317 

 376  1,025 
* Includes deposits held as margin money (refer note 59).

12. Deferred tax assets (net)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) arising on account of :
Provision for employee benefits and others provisions/liabilities deductible on actual 
payment

 3,337  3,768 

Allowances for expected credit loss- trade receivables and advances/loans  3,469  3,348 
Expense disallowed u/s 35DD of Income Tax Act, 1961  1  31 
Unabsorbed depreciation*  43,354  40,866 
Receivables, financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost  53  51 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets  1,09,578  71,242 

 1,59,792  1,19,306 
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Movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) for the year 
ended 31 March 2023

 As at  
1 April 2022 

 Recognised / 
reversed through 

profit and loss 

 Recognised 
/ reversed 

through OCI 

 As at  
31 March 2023 

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) arising on account of :
Provision for employee benefits and others provisions/
liabilities deductible on actual payment

3,768 (461) 30 3,337

Allowances for expected credit loss- trade receivables and 
advances/loans

3,348 121 - 3,469

Expense disallowed u/s 35DD of Income Tax Act, 1961 31 (30) - 1
Unabsorbed depreciation* 40,866 2,488 - 43,354
Receivables, financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost 51 2 - 53
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 71,242 38,336 - 1,09,578

1,19,306 40,456 30 1,59,792

Movement in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) for the year 
ended 31 March 2022

 As at  
1 April 2021 

 Recognised / 
reversed through 

profit and loss 

 Recognised 
/ reversed 

through OCI 

 As at  
31 March 2022 

Deferred tax assets / (liabilities) arising on account of :
Provision for employee benefits and others provisions/
liabilities deductible on actual payment

3,496 291 (19) 3,768

Allowances for expected credit loss- trade receivables and 
advances/loans

3,169 179 - 3,348

Expense disallowed u/s 35DD of Income Tax Act, 1961 497 (466) - 31
Unabsorbed depreciation* 46,400 (5,534) - 40,866
Receivables, financial assets and liabilities at amortised cost (120) 171 - 51
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 11,575 59,667 - 71,242

65,017 54,308 (19) 1,19,306

* Deferred tax assets on unabsorbed depreciation/ brought forward losses is recognised only to the extent of probability of 
availability and certainty of future taxable profits with convincing evidence and accordingly deferred tax assets of Rs. 14,767 
lacs (previous year Rs. 14,767 lacs) has not been recognised related to unabsorbed depreciation.

Note:

The deferred tax liability relating to the intangible assets impaired as mentioned in Note 7 has also been reversed consequently 
to the impairment, leading to an impact of Rs. 29,924 lacs in the tax expense.

13. Income tax assets (net)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Income tax (net of provision of Rs. 7973 lacs, 31 March 2022: Rs.3,648 lacs)  7,935  3,527 
 7,935  3,527 
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14. Other non current assets

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Capital advances (refer note 9)  35,078  58,587 
Less: provision for doubtful advances  (12,728)  - 
Advances other than capital advances:

Balance with statutory authorities*  13,362  13,733 
Prepaid expenses  6  5 

 35,718  72,325 
* includes amount paid under protest for entertainment tax (netted off provision recognised Rs. 609 lacs (31 March 2022:
Rs. 609 lacs))

15. Inventories (valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Customer premises equipment related accessories and spares  1,216  952 
Digital Content  73  - 

 1,289  952 

16. Trade receivables

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Trade receivables - considered good, unsecured  9,233  8,036 
Trade receivables - credit impaired  11,375  10,895 

 20,608  18,931 
Less: allowances for expected credit loss (refer note 48 B)  (11,375)  (10,895)

 9,233  8,036 
Trade receivable have been pledged as security for borrowings, refer note 23 and 27. 

All amounts are due in short-term. The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair value.

16.1 Trade receivables ageing schedule

As at 31 March 2023
Particulars Outstanding from the date of transaction

Less than  
6 months

6 months  
to 1 year

1 to 2 
years

2 to 3 
years

More than 
3 years

Total

Undisputed trade receivables - considered good, unsecured 7,051 2,127 55 - - 9,233
Undisputed trade receivables - credit impaired 371 961 971 532 8,540 11,375

7,422 3,088 1,026 532 8,540 20,608
Less: allowances for expected credit loss (11,375)

9,233
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As at 31 March 2022
Particulars Outstanding from the date of transaction

Less than  
6 months

6 months  
to 1 year

1 to 2 
years

2 to 3 
years

More than 
3 years

Total

Undisputed trade receivables - considered good, unsecured 7,168 769 99 - - 8,036 
Undisputed trade receivables - credit impaired 317 321 607 1,637 8,013 10,895 

7,485 1,090 706 1,637 8,013 18,931 
Less: allowances for expected credit loss (10,895)

8,036

There are no unbilled receivables, hence the same is not disclosed in the ageing schedule.

The credit period provided by the Company to its customers generally ranges from 60-90 days except subscription services 
wherein no such credit period is provided as it based on prepaid model.

No trade or other receivables are due by directors and other officers of the company or any of them either severally or jointly 
with any other persons or amounts due by firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a 
director or a member.

17. Cash and cash equivalents

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Balances with banks:-
In current accounts  3,483  3,536 

Cheques, drafts on hand  191  189 
Cash on hand  6  6 

 3,680  3,731 

Note: There are no repatriation restrictions with regard to cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the reporting period and 
previous year.

18. Other bank balances

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Deposits with maturity less than 12 months* 14,399 14,424 

Unpaid dividend account** 63 63 

14,462 14,487

* Includes deposits held as margin money (refer note 59).

** Not due for deposit to the Investor Education and Protection Fund
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19. Other financial assets (current)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated

Security deposits#

Others 818 1,157 

Interest accrued but not due on fixed deposits 227 194 

Other recoverables 317 180 

Others

Credit impaired 4,125 4,125 

Less: provision for expected credit loss (4,125) (4,125)

1,362 1,531

#The carrying values are considered to be reasonable approximation of fair values.

20. Other current assets

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Advances other than capital advances:
Balance with statutory authorities 9,126 9,229 
Prepaid expenses 3,738 2,829 
Amount recoverable in cash or in kind 33,102 31,538 

45,966 43,596 

21. Equity share capital

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Authorized
6,50,00,00,000 (31 March 2022: 6,50,00,00,000) equity shares of Re. 1 each  65,000  65,000 
Increased during the year nil (31 March 2022: nil) equity shares of Re. 1 each  -  - 

 65,000  65,000 
Issued
1,92,38,16,997 (31 March 2022: 1,92,38,16,997) equity shares of Re. 1 each, fully paid up  19,238  19,238 
Subscribed and fully paid up*
1,84,12,56,154 (31 March 2022: 1,84,12,56,154) equity shares of Re. 1 each, fully paid up  18,413  18,413 

 18,413  18,413 

*Difference in number of shares issued and number of shares subscribed is on account of shares held in abeyance (refer 
footnote (g) below)
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Footnotes:

a) Reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the year

 Nos.  Nos. 

Shares at the beginning of the year  1,84,12,56,154  1,84,12,87,514 

Less: Partly paid shares forfeited  -  (31,360)

Shares at the end of the year  1,84,12,56,154  1,84,12,56,154 

b) Rights, preferences, restrictions attached to the equity shares

The Parent Company has only one class of equity shares, having a par value of Re. 1 per share. Each shareholder is
eligible to one vote per fully paid equity share held (i.e. in proportion to the paid up shares in equity capital). The dividend
proposed, if any, by the Board of Directors is subject to approval of shareholders in the ensuing Annual General Meeting,
except in case of interim dividend. The repayment of equity share capital in the event of liquidation and buy back of
shares are possible subject to prevalent regulations. In the event of liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to
receive the remaining assets of the Parent Company after distribution of all preferential amounts, in proportion to their
shareholding.

c) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares of the Company

Name As at 31 March 2023  As at 31 March 2022

Number of 
shares

% holding in 
the Company

Number of 
shares 

% holding in 
the Company 

(i) Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas* 11,06,41,251 6.01% 11,21,97,686 6.09%

(ii) J C Flowers Asset Reconstruction Private Limited 44,53,48,990 24.19% - -

(iii) Yes Bank Limited - - 45,62,46,990 24.78%

Shareholding disclosed above does not include shares issued but kept in abeyance as at the balance sheet date due to 
the reasons stated in foot note (g) below

*  In terms of the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company at their meeting held on 26 March 2018 issued
and allotted equity shares to the shareholders of Videocon D2H Limited (D2H), including Deutsche Bank Trust Company 
Americas, which held the underlying equity shares of D2H against which American Depository Shares (“ADSs”) were
issued and listed on Nasdaq Global Market (“Nasdaq”). In terms of the Scheme, the said ADSs were to be voluntarily
delisted from Nasdaq. Accordingly, the said ADS were delisted from Nasdaq and in terms of the Scheme, the ADS
holders of D2H were issued Global Depositary Receipts (the “GDRs”) of Dish TV India Limited.

d) Subscribed and fully paid up shares include:

26,23,960 (31 March 2022: 26,23,960) equity shares of Re. 1 each, fully paid up, issued to the employees, under Employee
Stock Option Plan, i.e., ESOP 2007.
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e) 1,80,00,000 equity shares of Re. 1 each are reserved for issue under Employee Stock Option Plan 2018. (refer note 44 for 
terms and amount etc.)

f) Aggregate number of bonus share issued, shares issued for consideration other than cash and shares bought back 
during the period of five years immediately preceding the reporting date

(i) The Parent Company has issued 85,7785,642 numbers of shares under the scheme of merger, out of which 775,256,159 
numbers of shares have been allotted during the previous years without payment being received in cash (also refer 
footnote (g) below); and

(ii) Other than aforementioned, no share has been allotted by way of bonus issues and no share has been bought back in 
the current year and preceding five years.

g) The allotment of 82,529,483 equity shares of the Parent Company has been kept in abeyance, due to litigation, till such 
time the claim over the title of the share is ascertained by appropriate statutory or judicial bodies.

h) Details of shares held by promoters

Name  As at 31 March 2023  As at 31 March 2022 

Number  
of shares 

% holding 
in the 

Company 

% Change 
during 

the year

Number of 
shares 

% holding 
in the 

Company 

% Change 
during 

the year

(i) Direct Media Distribution Private Limited 1,03,78,612 0.56% -72.83% 3,82,05,731 2.07% -39.86%

(ii) Agrani Holdings Mauritius Limited 3,51,72,125 1.91% 0.00% 3,51,72,125 1.91% 0.00%

(iii) JSGG Infra Developers LLP 2,70,09,675 1.47% 0.00% 2,70,09,675 1.47% 0.00%

(iv) World Crest Advisors LLP 9,52,100 0.05% -87.95% 79,02,100 0.43% 0.00%

(v) Veena Investments Private Limited 77,721 0.00% 0.00% 77,721 0.00% 0.00%

(vi) Sushila Devi 5,85,735 0.03% 0.00% 5,85,750 0.03% 0.00%

(vii) Jawahar Lal Goel 1,76,800 0.01% 0.00% 1,76,800 0.01% 0.00%

(viii) Nishi Goel 11,000 0.00% 0.00% 11,000 0.00% 0.00%

(ix) Priti Goel 11,000 0.00% 0.00% 11,000 0.00% 0.00%

(x) Jai Goel 5,100 0.00% 0.00% 5,100 0.00% 0.00%

(xi) Suryansh Goel 5,100 0.00% 0.00% 5,100 0.00% 0.00%
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22. Other equity

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Retained earnings
Balance at the beginning of the year (571,290) (388,174)
Restatement of opening reserve pertaining to Dish TV Lanka (Private) Limited 
(refer note 34)

5,729 -

Loss for the year (168,354) (183,136)
(733,915) (571,310)

Items of the other comprehensive income recognised directly in retained 
earnings

 20  164 

Add: Remeasurement of post employment benefits (net of taxes) (87) 20
Balance at the end of the year (734,002) (571,290)
Securities premium  633,613  633,613 
Balance at the beginning and end of the year 633,613 633,613
General reserves  1,849  1,849 
Balance at the beginning and end of the year 1,849 1,849
Shares options outstanding account  389  331 
Balance at the beginning of the year 427 389
Add: Share based payments to employees during the year 2 38
Balance at the end of the year 429 427
Other components of equity  825  825 
Shares kept in abeyance (refer note 21 (g)) 825 825
Foreign currency translation reserve  1,781  528 
Balance at the beginning of the year 9,766 1,781
Foreign currency translation adjustments (refer note 34) (9,766) 11,407
Non-controlling interest share in translation difference - (3,422)
Balance at the end of the year - 9,766

(97,286) 75,190

Nature and purpose of other reserves

Retained earnings

Retained earnings are created from the profit / loss of the Group, as adjusted for distributions to owners, transfers to other 
reserves, etc.

Securities premium account

Securities premium reserve represents premium received on issue of shares. The reserve is utilised in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act.

General reserve

Balance pursuant to the scheme of arrangement and re organisation of share capital as approved by Hon’ble high court of judicature 
at Bombay and high court of judicature at New Delhi vide their order dated 12 January 2007 and 19 January 2007 respectively.
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Shares options outstanding account

The reserve account is used to recognise the amortisation of grant date fair value of options issued to employees (including 
employees of subsidiary company) under employee stock option plan over the vesting period.

Other component of equity

The shares issued under merger but not allotted are kept in abeyance.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the results and net liabilities of foreign subsidiary from their functional 
currency to the group’s presentation currency (the INR) are recognised directly in the other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in foreign currency translation reserves.

23. Borrowings (non-current)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

From banks (Secured)

Term loans 818 27,006

818 27,006

Less: Current maturities of long term borrowings (refer note 27.1) (818) (19,615)

- 7,391

Repayment terms, rate of interest and nature of security for the outstanding long term borrowing as on 31 March 2023 and 
31 March 2022

A) Term loans-Secured

Term loan of Rs. 818 lacs ( 31 March 2022: Rs. 27,006 lacs)

(i) Term loan of Rs. 668 lacs from Axis Bank (31 March 2022: Rs. 22,286 lacs) , balance amount is repayable in 1 quarterly 
instalment. Last instalment due in the month of June 2023. The rate of interest is linked to 12 months marginal cost
of funds-based lending rate (MCLR) plus a spread of 1%per annum.

(ii) Term loan of Rs. 150 lacs from RBL Bank (31 March 2022: Rs. 4,720 lacs) , balance amount is repayable in 1 quarterly
instalment. Last instalment due in the month of June 2023. The rate of interest is linked to 1 month MCLR+2.60%

Above facilities (i) to (ii) are secured by:

(a) First pari passu charge over all, present future, moveable fixed assets and current assets of the borrower subject 
to a minimum asset cover ratio of 1.25 time.

(b) Unconditional and irrevocable corporate guarantee of Dish TV India Limited, parent Company.

(c) Charge on debt service reserve account
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(d) In future, if the gross block of immovable properties crosses Rs. 50 crore, the same shall be charged to be lenders 
on pari passu basis. The charges to be created in favour of the Security Trustee for the benefit of the lenders and 
the Trustee would give NOC for creating first/second charge to the other lenders after taking necessary approval 
from lenders. Any additional collateral security other those mentioned herein above offered by borrower to other 
lenders (in case of pari passu charge) shall also be available to the bank.

24. Lease liability (non-current )

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Lease liability (refer note 53) 196 189
196 189

25. Provisions (non-current)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Provisions for employee benefits
Leave encashment (refer note 46) 887 876
Gratuity (refer note 46) 234 1,009

1,121 1,885

26. Other non current liabilities

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Revenue received in advance  414  1,022 
 414  1,022 

27. Borrowings (current)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

From banks (secured)
Cash credit  6,432  10,552 
Current maturities of long-term borrowings (refer note 23 and 27.1)  818  19,615 

 7,250  30,167 

27.1 Current maturities of long-term borrowings

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

From Bank  818  19,615 
Term Loans  818  19,615 
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A) Cash credit

(i) The Group has taken cash credit facility of Rs. 3,751 lacs (31 March 2022: Rs. 3,770 lacs) from Axis bank for general 
business purposes. The rate of interest is 3 month MCLR+ 1.70%.

Above facility is secured by:

(a) ‘First pari-passu charges on all movable and immovable fixed assets (both present and future);

(b) First pari-passu charges on all current assets including stock of raw materials, semi finished and finished 
goods, consumable stores and spares and such other movable including book debts, bills, outstanding monies 
receivables (both present and future);

(c) Corporate guarantee is given by Dish TV India Limited.

(d) Assignment of insurance policies pertaining to CPE charged, current assets and movable fixed assets.

(ii) The Group has taken cash credit facility of Rs. 2,681 lacs from RBL Bank (31 March 2022: Rs. 6,782 lacs) for general 
business purposes. The rate of interest is 3 months MCLR + 1.00%.

Above facility is secured by:

(a) First pari-passu charges on consumer premises equipment (CPE) (both present and future);

(b) First pari-passu charges on all current assets including stock of raw materials, semi finished and finished 
goods, consumable stores and spares and such other movable including book debts, bills, outstanding monies 
receivables (both present and future);

(c) ‘First pari-passu charges on all movable and immovable fixed assets (both present and future);

(d) Assignment of insurance policies pertaining to CPE charged, current assets and movable fixed assets.

(e) Corporate guarantee is given by Dish TV India Limited.

27.2 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Particulars Borrowings (non-current) Borrowings (current)
As at 1 April 2021 59,534 21,454
Cash flows:
Repayment of borrowings (31,177) (10,902)
Non-cash:  -  - 
Impact of borrowings measured at amortised cost (1,351) -
As at 31 March 2022 27,006 10,552
Cash flows:
Repayment of borrowings (26,188) (4,120)
As at 31 March 2023 818 6,432
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28. Trade payables

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises (MSME) 514 531
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and small 
enterprises

44,268 69,512

44,782 70,043

28.1 Dues to small and micro enterprises pursuant to section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development 
(‘MSMED’) Act, 2006 #:

Particulars As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

i) the principal amount and the interest due thereon remaining unpaid to any 
supplier as at the end of each accounting year;

514 531

ii) the amount of interest paid by the buyer under MSMED Act 2006, along with the 
amounts of the payment made to the supplier beyond the appointed day during 
each accounting year;

- -

iii) the amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making 
payment (which have been paid but beyond the appointed day during the year) 
but without adding the interest specified under this Act;

- -

iv) the amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of each 
accounting year; and

- -

v) the amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding 
years, until such date when the interest dues as above are actually paid to the 
small enterprise, for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible expenditure 
under section 23 of MSMED Act,2006.

- -

# The management has identified micro and small enterprises as defined under Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act, 2006 (MSMED) on the basis of information made available by the supplier or vendors of the Group. Based 
on the information available with the Company, as at the year end, there are no dues to micro and small Enterprises that are 
reportable under the MSMED Act, 2006.

28.2 Trade payables ageing schedule

As at 31 March 2023
Particulars Outstanding from the date of transaction Total

Unbilled 
Payable

Less than 
1 year

1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
years

Total outstanding dues of MSME - 514 - - - 514
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than MSME 15,124 28,497 41 69 537 44,268
Total disputed dues - MSME - - - - - -
Total disputed dues - Others - - - - - -

15,124 29,011 41 69 537 44,782
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As at 31 March 2022

Particulars Outstanding from the date of transaction Total

Unbilled 
Payable

Less than 
1 year

1-2 years 2-3 years More than 3 
years

Total outstanding dues of MSME - 531 - - - 531

Total outstanding dues of creditors other than MSME 15,805 47,874 2,368 1,885 1,580 69,512

Total disputed dues - MSME - - - - - -

Total disputed dues - Others - - - - - -

15,805 48,405 2,368 1,885 1,580 70,043

29. Lease liability (current)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Lease liability (refer note 53) 14 14

14 14

30. Other financial liabilities (current)#

Particulars As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Unpaid dividend* 63 63
Security deposit received 38 30
Employee related liabilities 1,351 2,185
Capital creditors 5,582 6,783
Commission accrued 1,718 2,644
Book overdraft - 1,120

8,752 12,825

#The carrying values are considered to be reasonable approximation fair values.

* Not due for deposit to the Investor Education and Protection Fund.

31. Other current liabilities

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Revenue received in advance 17,889 19,634
Statutory dues payable 14,703 15,401
Other advance from customers 21,307 21,483

53,899 56,518
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32. Provisions (current)

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Provisions for employee benefits
Leave encashment (refer note 46) 104 140
Others provisions
License fees including interest (refer note 54) 410,869 394,506

410,973 394,646

33. Current tax liabilities

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Provision for income tax*  2,094  2,094 
 2,094  2,094 

* Refund received from Income Tax department, currently pending for reconciliation with department. Necessary Filing made 
under section 154 of Income Tax Act.

34. Assets held for sale and liabilities associated thereto

As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

The details of assets classified as held for sale and liabilities associated thereto are as under:
Assets pertaining to subsidiary held for sale:

Property, plant and equipment  -  300 
Capital work in progress  -  12 
Other non-current financial assets  -  2 
Other non-current assets  -  0 
Inventories  -  14 
Trade receivables  -  4 
Cash and cash equivalents  -  2 
Other current assets  -  3 

Total  -  337 
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale:

Non-current provisions  -  (0)
Trade payables  -  2,389 
Other financial liabilities  -  68 
Current provisions  -  1 
Other current liabilities  -  1 

Total  -  2,459 

Note:
Pursuant to the approval of the Board at its meeting held on 29 January 2021 for the sale of its entire equity investment (“investment”) in 
its subsidiary viz. Dish T V Lanka (Private) Limited (“Dish Lanka”) and upon approval from Reserve Bank of India (RBI) for disinvestment 
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in Dish Lanka, the Company, during current year has received sale proceeds from the buyer and subsequently completed the transfer 
of its entire shareholding in Dish Lanka to the buyer. Accordingly, Dish Lanka ceases to be a subsidiary of the Company.

35. Revenue from operations

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Sale of services:
Subscription revenue  64,862  1,08,456 
Infra support service  1,11,595  1,37,832 
Lease rentals  102  406 
Performance incentive  3,354  6,825 
Teleport services  2,911  2,646 
Marketing and promotional fee  36,575  16,038 
Advertisement income  3,702  4,926 

Other operating revenue  3,084  3,120 
 2,26,185  2,80,249 

Disclosure of revenue pursuant to Ind AS 115- Revenue from contract with customers

A. Reconciliation of revenue from rendering of service with the contracted price

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Contracted price  2,26,185  2,80,249 
 2,26,185  2,80,249 

B. Disaggregatio n of revenue

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Revenue from operation*
Subscription revenue from direct to home subscribers  64,862  1,08,456 
Infra support service  1,11,595  1,37,832 
Lease rentals  102  406 
Performance incentive  3,354  6,825 
Teleport services  2,911  2,646 
Marketing and promotional fee  36,575  16,038 
Advertisement income  3,702  4,926 

 2,23,101  2,77,129 
Other operating revenue (majorly service spares and sale of CPE and accessories 
revenue)

 3,084  3,120 

Total revenue covered under Ind AS 115  2,26,185  2,80,249 

* The Group has disaggregated the revenue from contracts with customers on the basis of nature of services. The Group 
believes that the disaggregation of revenue on the basis of nature of services have no impact on the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows.
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C. Contract balances

The following table provides information about receivables and contract liabilities from contract with customers

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Contract liabilities
Advance from customer(Income received in advance and other advance)  39,610  42,139 

 39,610  42,139 
Receivables
Trade receivables  20,608  18,931 

Less: allowances for expected credit loss  (11,375)  (10,895)

 9,233  8,036 

Contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for goods or services transferred to the customer. Contract 
liability is the entity’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the entity has received consideration 
from the customer in advance.

D. D. Significant changes in the contract liabilities balances during the year are as follows:

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Opening balance  42,139  47,837 
Addition during the year  38,588  40,972 
Revenue recognised during the year  41,117  46,670 
Closing balance  39,610  42,139 

36. Other income

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Interest income from:
- fixed deposits/ margin accounts  665  603 
- financial asset measured at amortised cost  -  34 
- income tax refund  470  737 
- others  -  2 
Other non-operating income
- Foreign exchange fluctuation (net)  174  377 
- Liabilities written back  944  18 
- Profit from sale of Investment  51  - 
- Miscellaneous income  1,016  621 

 3,320  2,392 
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37. Changes in inventories of stock-in-trade (CPE related accessories/ spares)

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Opening stock  967  2,138 
Less: Closing stock  1,217  967 

 (250)  1,171 

38. Operating expenses

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Transponder lease  26,324  25,827 
License fees  10,010  12,246 
Uplinking charges  803  829 
Programming and other costs  11,032  9,173 
Call centre service  10,610  11,478 
Other operating costs  670  1,237 

 59,449  60,790 

39. Employee benefits expense

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Salaries  14,265  13,916 
Contribution to provident and other funds  796  730 
Share based payments to employees  (15)  51 
Staff welfare expenses  355  255 

 15,401  14,952 

40. Finance costs

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Interest on:

- Term loans from banks  1,246  3,921 

- Overdraft facility from bank  573  817 

- Buyer's credits from banks  -  361 

- Regulatory dues  25,110  26,017 

- Others  706  330 

Other finance charges  163  1,012 

 27,798  32,458 
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41. Depreciation and amortisation expenses

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Depreciation  70,843  93,097 

Amortisation  14,067  13,993 

 84,910  1,07,090 

42. Other expenses

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Electricity charges  937  1,857 

Rent  1,300  1,327 

Repairs and maintenance

- Plant and equipments  229  154 

- Consumer premises equipments  1,849  2,570 

- Building  14  17 

- Others  135  141 

Insurance  261  169 

Rates and taxes  236  152 

Legal and professional fees  4,147  3,949 

Director's sitting fees  100  70 

Printing and stationary  48  38 

Communication expenses  2,405  3,190 

Travelling and conveyance  1,407  983 

Service and hire charges  1,079  1,350 

Advertisement and publicity expenses  11,504  7,897 

Business promotion expenses  3,957  3,680 

Commission  4,162  5,311 

Bad debts and balances written off  278  23 

Provision for expected credit loss and advances (refer note 14 and 16)  13,186  1,541 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (net)  -  3 

Loss on sale/discard of capital work-in-progress (net)  9,299  1,307 

Miscellaneous expenses  1,349  926 

 57,882  36,655 
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43. Exceptional items

 Year ended  
31 March 2023 

 Year ended  
31 March 2022 

Impairment of goodwill (refer note 7)  62,109  1,61,687 
Impairment of trademark/brand (refer note 8)  11,055  71,770 
Impairment of customer and distributor relationship (refer note 8)  56,786  - 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment (refer note 5)  32,811  - 
Impairment of intangible assets under development (refer note 9)  28,000  20,300 
Foreign exchange fluctuation loss*  -  11,631 

 1,90,761  2,65,388 

*Foreign exchange fluctuation loss of Rs nil (Prevoius year Rs. 11,631 lacs) in financial statements of Dish T V Lanka (Private) 
Limited, a subsidiary incorporated in Sri Lanka due to economic crisis in Sri Lanka. 

44. Employee stock option plan (ESOP) 2018

At the board meeting held on 25 October 2018, the board of directors of the Parent Company had approved Employee Stock 
Option Plan, i.e., ESOP 2018 (“the Scheme”). The Scheme provided for issuance of 1,80,00,000 stock options (underlying fully 
paid equity share of Re.1 each) to all the permanent employees or Directors of the Parent Company, whether whole-time or 
not, or to employee of a subsidiary company or of a Parent company or of an associate company except an employee who is 
a Promoter or belongs to the Promoter Group, a Director who either by himself or through his relatives or through any body 
corporate, directly or indirectly holds more than 10% of the issued and subscribed shares of the Parent Company and the 
Independent Director at an exercise price equal to the ‘market price ‘which shall be the latest available closing price, prior to 
the date of the meeting of the nomination and remuneration committee, in which options are granted on the stock exchange 
on which the shares of the Parent Company are listed.

The options will be granted at an exercise price equal to the ‘market price ‘which shall be the latest available closing price, 
prior to the date of the meeting of the nomination and remuneration committee, in which options are granted on the stock 
exchange on which the shares of the Parent Company are listed.

Under ESOP 2018, the Parent Company will issue fresh equity shares as and when the Vested Options are exercised by the 
option grantees. Each option shall be convertible into one Share of the Parent Company upon exercise.

The total number of options that may be granted to any specific employee under one or more tranches during any one year 
shall not exceed 10,00,000 stock options and options that may be granted to any specific employee in aggregate shall not 
exceed 50,00,000 stock options

Options granted under ESOP 2018 would vest not earlier than one year and not later than four years from the date of Grant 
of such Options. The vesting shall happen every year equally i.e. 25% of the number of options granted, for 4 years from the 
date of grant of the options.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Parent Company at its meeting held on 25 October 2018 has approved 
the grant of 33,60,000 stock option at an exercise price of Rs. 44.85 per option to the eligible employees under the scheme 
having weighted average fair value of Rs. 13.87. Further, on 24 May 2019, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of 
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the Parent Company has approved the grant of additional 8,60,000 stock option at an exercise price of Rs. 30.45 per option to 
eligible employees under ESOP Plan 2018 having weighted average fair value of Rs. 15.20.

The activity relating to the options granted and movements therein are set out below:

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2023

For the year ended 
31 March 2022

Weighted Avg. Price (Nos.) Weighted Avg. Price (Nos.)

Options outstanding at the beginning of the year - 2,710,000 - 2,807,000

Less: Lapsed 34.15 183,000 37.43 97,000

Options outstanding at the end of the year 2,527,000 2,710,000

The following table summarises information on the share options outstanding as of 31 March 2023:

Particulars Date of grant Number of shares 
remaining out of options

Remaining 
contractual life (year)

Exercise 
price (Rs)

Lot 1 25 October 2018 2,232,000 3.08 44.85

Lot 2 24 May 2019 295,000 3.66 30.45

Options outstanding at the end of the year 2,527,000 3.18# 43.17#

# on a weighted average basis.

The following table summarises information on the share options outstanding as of 31 March 2022:

Particulars Date of grant Number of shares 
remaining out of options

Remaining 
contractual life (year)

Exercise 
price (Rs)

Lot 1 25 October 2018 2,279,000 4.08 44.85

Lot 2 24 May 2019 431,000 4.66 30.45

Options outstanding at the end of the year 2,710,000 4.18# 42.56#

# on a weighted average basis.

45. Employee stock option plan (ESOP) 2007

At the Annual General Meeting held on 3 August 2007, the shareholders of the Parent Company had approved Employee Stock 
Option Plan, i.e., ESOP 2007 (“the Scheme”). The Scheme provided for issuance of 4,282,228 stock options (underlying fully 
paid equity share of Re.1 each) to the employees of the Parent Company as well as that of its subsidiaries companies at the 
exercise price which shall be equivalent to the market price determined as per the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Employee Stock Option Scheme and Employee Stock Purchase Scheme) Guidelines, 1999 [‘SEBI (ESOP) Guidelines, 1999’].

The options granted under the Scheme shall vest between one year to six years from the date of grant of options, with 20% 
vesting each year. Once the options vest as per the Scheme, they would be exercisable by the grantee at any time within a 
period of four years from the date of vesting and the shares arising on exercise of such options shall not be subject to any 
lock-in period.
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The shareholders in their meeting held on 28 August 2008 approved the re-pricing of outstanding options which were granted 
till that date and consequently the outstanding options were re-priced at Rs. 37.55 per option, determined as per SEBI (ESOP) 
Guidelines, 1999.

However, in respect of options granted subsequent to 28 August 2008, the exercise price of the options has been maintained 
as equivalent to the market price determined as per the SEBI (ESOP) Guidelines, 1999.

As stated above, the options are granted to the employees at an exercise price, being the latest market price as per SEBI 
(ESOP) Guidelines, 1999.

Further, it was decided by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee at its meeting held on 17 August 2017, that new 
Stock options shall not be granted under the ESOP 2007 Scheme of the Parent Company. Accordingly, it was proposed to 
withdraw the existing Scheme and cancel the remaining options which are yet to be granted and, for the employees who 
have been granted the Stock Options (whether vested or not) shall be granted Options under the new Scheme. However, the 
employees who have been granted the Stock Options (whether vested or not) shall be allowed to exercise those stock options.

The activity relating to the options granted and movements therein are set out below:

Particulars For the year ended 
31 March 2023

For the year ended 
31 March 2022

Weighted Avg. Price (Nos.) Weighted Avg. Price (Nos.)
Options outstanding at the beginning of the year 176,320 214,400
Less: Lapsed 97.51 46,080 93.94 38,080
Options outstanding at the end of the year 130,240 176,320

The following table summarizes information on the share options outstanding as of 31 March 2023:

Particulars Date of grant Number of shares 
remaining out of options

Remaining 
contractual life (year)

Exercise 
price (Rs)

Lot 14 20 March 2015 8,000 - 79.35
Lot 17 23 May 2016 33,240 1.15 93.90
Lot 18 24 March 2017 57,000 1.99 108.15
Lot 19 24 May 2017 32,000 2.15 95.40
Options outstanding at the end of the year 130,240 1.64# 99.61#

#on a weighted average basis. 

The following table summarizes information on the share options outstanding as of 31 March 2022:

Particulars Date of grant Number of shares 
remaining out of options

Remaining 
contractual life (year)

Exercise 
price (Rs)

Lot 14 20 March 2015 16,000 0.97 79.35
Lot 17 23 May 2016 44,320 2.15 93.90
Lot 18 24 March 2017 76,000 2.99 108.15
Lot 19 24 May 2017 40,000 3.15 95.40
Options outstanding at the end of the year 176,320 2.64# 99.06#

#on a weighted average basis. 
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46. Disclosure pursuant to Indian Accounting Standard 19 on “Employee Benefits”

Defined contribution plans

An amount of Rs. 752 lacs (previous year Rs. 696 lacs) and Rs. 1 lacs (previous year Rs. 2 lacs) for the year, have been 
recognized as expenses in respect of the Group’s contributions to Provident Fund and Employee’s State Insurance Fund 
respectively, deposited with the government authorities and have been included under “Employee benefits expenses”.

Defined benefit plans

The Group provides for gratuity, a defined benefit retirement plan covering eligible employees. As per the plan, the Dish 
TV employees group gratuity trust, administered and managed by the Trustees and funded primarily with Life Insurance 
Corporation of India (LICI) , make payment to vested employees at retirement, death, incapacitation or termination of 
employment, of an amount based on the respective employee’s salary and the tenure of employment. The Trustees are 
responsible for the overall governance of the plan and to act in accordance with the provisions of the trust deed and rules in the 
best interests of the plan participants. Each year an Asset-Liability matching study is performed in which the consequences 
of the strategic investment policies are analysed in terms of risk and return profiles. Investment and contribution policies are 
integrated within this study. Liabilities with regard to the Gratuity Plan are determined by actuarial valuation as set out in Note 
4(m) in significant accounting policies, based upon which, the Group makes contributions to the Employees’ Gratuity Funds.

Risk exposure

The defined benefit plans are typically based on certain assumptions and expose the Group to various risk as follows:

a) Salary risk- Actual salary increases will increase the Plan’s liability. Increase in salary increase rate assumption in future 
valuations will also increase the liability.

b) Investment risk – If plan is funded then assets liabilities mismatch and actual investment return on assets lower than the 
discount rate assumed at the last valuation date can impact the liability.

c) Discount rate – Reduction in discount rate in subsequent valuations can increase the plan’s liability.

d) Mortality – Actual deaths and disability cases proving lower or higher than assumed in the valuation can impact the liabilities.

e) Withdrawals – Actual withdrawals proving higher or lower than assumed withdrawals and change of withdrawal rates at 
subsequent valuations can impact plan’s liability.

The following table sets forth the status of the gratuity plan of the Group and the amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet 
and Statement of Profit and Loss:

i) Changes in present value of obligation

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Present value of obligation as at the beginning of the year 2,385 2,211
Interest cost 171 150
Current service cost 277 268
Benefits paid (511) (205)
Actuarial loss/(gain) on obligation 117 (39)
Present value of obligation as at the end of the year 2,439 2,385
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ii) Changes in fair value of plan assets

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of year 1,376 353

Actual return on plan assets 95 36

Employer contribution 734 987

Fair value of plan assets as at end of the year 2,205 1,376

iii) Major categories of plan assets :

The Group’s plan assets primary comprise of qualifying insurance policies issued by life insurance corporation of India
amounting to Rs. 2,205 lacs (previous year Rs. 1376 lacs) for defined benefit obligation.

iv) Amount of provision recognised in Balance Sheet

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Present value of obligation as at end of the year 2,439 2,385

Fair value of plan assets as at end of the year 2,205 1,376

Liability/provision in balance sheet 234 1,009

Current - -

Non-current 234 1,009

v) Amount recognised in the Statement of profit and loss:

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Current service cost  277  268 

Interest cost on benefit obligation  171  150 

 448  418 

vi) Amount recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Net actuarial loss/(gain) recognised in the year 117 (39)

117 (39)

Bifurcation of actuarial loss/ (gain)

Actuarial gain arising from change in financial assumption (30) (62)

Actuarial loss/(gain) arising from experience adjustment 147 23
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vii) The principal assumptions used in determining gratuity for the Group’s plans are shown below

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Retirement age (years) 60 60
Discount rate 7.36% 7.18%
Salary escalation rate (per annum) 10.00% 10.00%
Withdrawal rates 
Age- Upto 30 years 20.00% 20.00%
31-44 years 12.50% 12.50%
Above 44 years 8.00% 8.00%
Mortality rate 100% of IALM 

(2012-14)
100% of IALM 

(2012-14)

These assumptions were developed by the management with the assistance of independent actuarial appraisers.

Discount rate: The discount rate is estimated based on the prevailing market yields of Indian government securities as at 
the balance sheet date for the estimated term of the obligation.

Salary escalation rate: The estimates of salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, 
promotion and other relevant factors.

viii) Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation:

Year As at
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

a) 0 to 1 234 356
b) 1 to 2 346 235
c) 2 to 3 219 279
d) 3 to 4 175 174
e) 4 to 5 135 147
f) 5 to 6 141 110
g) 6 year onwards 1,189 1,084

ix) Sensitivity analysis of the defined benefit obligation for significant actuarial assumptions

Particulars As at 
31 March 2023 

As at 
31 March 2022

Impact of the change in discount rate
Present value of obligation at the end of the year 2,439 2,385
Decrease in liability due to increase of 0.5 % (83) (79)
Increase in liability due to decrease of 0.5 % 88 85
Impact of the change in salary escalation rate
Present value of obligation at the end of the year 2,439 2,385
Increase in liability due to increase of 0.5 % 85 82
Decrease in liability due to decrease of 0.5 % (80) (77)

Sensitivities due to mortality & withdrawals are not material & hence impact of change due to these not calculated.
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x) The Group expects to contribute Rs. 342.29 lacs (previous year Rs. 366.91 lacs) to the funded gratuity plans during the 
next financial year.

Other long term employment benefits

The liability towards compensated absence for the year ended 31 March 2023 base on the actuarial valuation carried out 

by using projected unit credit method stood at Rs. 991 lacs (previous year Rs. 1,032 lacs).

The principal assumptions used in determining compensated absences are shown below

Particulars As at 
31 March 2023

As at 
31 March 2022

Retirement age (years) 60 60
Mortality rate 100% of IALM 

(2012-14)
100% of IALM 

(2012-14)
Ages
Withdrawal rates 
Age- Upto 30 years 20.00% 20.00%
31-44 years 12.50% 12.50%
Above 44 years 8.00% 8.00%
Leave
Leave availment rate 3% 3%
Leave lapse rate while in service Nil Nil
Leave lapse rate on exit Nil Nil
Leave encashment rate while in service 5% 5%

47. Financial instruments measured at fair value

A. Fair value hierarchy

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are divided in to three levels 

of fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the observability of significant inputs to the measurement, 

as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: the fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in active market is determined using valuation technique 

which maximise the use of observable market data rely as low as possible on entity specific estimate.

Level 3: if one or more of the significant inputs are not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in 

level 3
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B. Fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Particulars Level 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Financial assets
Equity shares Dr. Subhash Chandra Foundation**  Level 3 # #
(# Rs. 10)

(**The carrying value of Rs 10 as on 31 March 2023 (previous year Rs 10), rounded off to Rs lacs, represents the best 
estimate of fair value.)

C. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost

Particulars Level 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Carrying amount Fair value Carrying amount Fair value

Financial assets Level 3 # #
Other financial assets* 376 376 1,025 1,025
Total financial assets 376 376 1,025 1,025
Financial liabilities Level 3
Borrowings** - - 7,391 7,391
Total financial liabilities -  -  - 7,391 7,391

The above disclosures are presented for non-current financial assets and liabilities. The carrying value of current 
financial assets and liabilities (security deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, other financial assets, 
financial guarantee contracts, trade payables and other financial liabilities) represents the best estimate of fair value.

* Fair value of bank deposits included in non-current other financial assets are equivalent to their carrying amount, as the 
interest rate on them is equivalent to market rate.

* Fair value of security deposits included in non-current other financial assets are equivalent to their carrying amount, as 
tenure of security deposit cannnot be determined.

** The fair value of long-term borrowings is estimated by discounting future cash flows using current rates applicable to 
instruments with similar terms, currency, credit risk and remaining maturities.

48. A. Financial instruments by category

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
FVOCI FVTPL Amortised Cost FVOCI FVTPL Amortised Cost

Financial assets
Investment # - - # - -
Security deposits - - 1,167 - - 1,865
Trade receivables - - 9,233 - - 8,036
Cash and cash equivalents - - 3,680 - - 3,731
Other financial assets - - 15,033 - - 15,178
Total financial assets - - 29,113 - - 28,810
Financial liabilities
Borrowings (including interest) - - 7,250 - - 37,558
Trade payables - - 44,782 - - 70,043
Other financial liabilities - - 8,752 - - 12,825
Total financial liabilities - - 60,784 - - 120,426
(# Rs. 10).
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B. Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to various risks and the main types of risks are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

The Group’s risk management is coordinated in close co-operation with the board of directors, and focuses on securing 
Group’s short to medium term cash flows.

This note explains the sources of risk which the Group is exposed to and how the Group manages the risk and the related 
impact in these consolidated financial statements.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation to the Group causing 
a financial loss. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables 
and financial assets measured at amortised cost.

Credit risk management
Credit risk rating
The Group assesses and manages credit risk of financial assets based on following categories arrived on the basis of 
assumptions, inputs and factors specific to the class of financial assets. The Group continuously monitors defaults of the 
counterparties and incorporates this information into its credit risk controls.

A: Low credit risk

B: Moderate credit risk

C: High credit risk

The Group provides for expected credit loss based on the following:

Asset group Basis of categorization Provision for expected credit loss
Low credit risk Investment, cash and cash equivalents, loans, security 

deposits, other bank balances and other financial assets
12 month expected credit loss

Moderate credit risk Trade receivables Life time expected credit loss

High credit risk Trade receivables and other recoverable Life time expected credit loss or fully 
provided for

Based on business environment in which the Group operates, a default on a financial asset is considered when the 
counter party fails to make payments within the agreed time period as per contract. Loss rates reflecting defaults 
are based on actual credit loss experience and considering differences between current and historical economic 
conditions.

Credit rating Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Low credit risk Investment, cash and cash equivalents, loans, security 

deposits, other bank balances and other financial assets
19,880 20,774

Moderate credit risk Trade receivables 9,233 8,036
High credit risk Trade receivables and other recoverable 15,500 15,020

Credit risk from balances with banks, term deposits and investments is managed by Group’s finance department and are 
held with highly rated banks.
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The Group has given security deposits to vendors for rental deposits for office properties, securing services from them 
and government departments for transponders taken on rent. The Group does not expect any default from these parties 
and accordingly the risk of default is negligible or nil.

Concentration of trade receivables
The Group has widespread customers and there is no concentration of trade receivables.

a) Expected credit losses

Provision for expected credit losses

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit losses on trade receivables using a simplified approach and uses 
historical information to arrive at loss percentage relevant to each category of trade receivables.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and expected credit loss for trade 
receivables from individual customers:

As at 31 March 2023 Gross carrying amount Weighted- average loss rate Loss allowance
0-90 days 5,938 3.82% 227
91-180 days 1,547 9.28% 144
181-365 days 3,025 31.76% 961
1-2 years 1,026 94.68% 971
More than 2 years 9,072 100.00% 9,072

20,608 11,375

As at 31 March 2022 Gross carrying amount Weighted- average loss rate Loss allowance
0-90 days 5,525 2.99% 165
91-180 days 1,981 7.69% 152
181-365 days 1,069 30.06% 321
1-2 years 706 85.88% 607
More than 2 years 9,650 100.00% 9,650

18,931 10,895

Expected credit loss for trade receivables and other financial assets under simplified approach

As at 31 March 2023
Particulars Estimated gross carrying 

amount at default
Expected credit losses Carrying amount net of 

impairment provision
Trade receivables  20,608  (11,375)  9,233
Other financial assets  19,158  (4,125)  15,033

As at 31 March 2022
Particulars Estimated gross carrying 

amount at default
Expected credit losses Carrying amount net of 

impairment provision
Trade receivables 18,931  (10,895)  8,036 
Other financial assets  19,303  (4,125)  15,178 



CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND OTHER EXPLANATORY INFORMATION
for the year ended 31 March 2023 (All amounts in ` lacs, unless otherwise stated)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23 | 317

Reconciliation of loss allowance provision – Trade receivable and other financial assets

Particulars Carrying amount net of impairment provision
Loss allowance on 31 March 2022 (15,020)
Changes in loss allowance  (480)
Loss allowance on 31 March 2023  (15,500)

b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that suitable sources of funding for the Group’s business activities may not be available. 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability 
of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet obligations when due and to close 
out market positions. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity position (comprising the 
undrawn borrowing facilities) and cash and cash equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows. Short term liquidity 
requirements comprises mainly of trade payables and employee dues arising during normal course of business as on 
each balance sheet date. Long- term liquidity requirement is assessed by the management on periodical basis and 
is managed through internal accruals and through funding commitments from shareholders.

c) Financing arrangements

There is no fixed rate borrowings as on 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022

d) Maturity of financial liabilities

31 March 2023 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years Later than 5 years Total

Rs. in lacs Rs. in lacs Rs. in lacs Rs. in lacs

Borrowings (including interest) 7,250 - - 7,250

Trade payables 44,782 - - 44,782

Other financial liabilities 8,766 27 169 8,962

31 March 2022 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years Later than 5 years Total

Rs. in lacs Rs. in lacs Rs. in lacs Rs. in lacs

Borrowings (including interest) 30,167 7,391 - 37,558

Trade payables 70,043 - - 70,043

Other financial liabilities 12,839 31 158 13,028

e) Market Risk

i. Foreign currency risk

The Group has international transactions and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from foreign currency 
transactions. Foreign exchange risk arises from recognized assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that 
is not the Group’s functional currency.
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Particulars As at 31 March 2023
Currency type

AUD EURO USD
Trade receivables - - 404

Financial assets (A) - - 404
Trade payables 0 746 69

Other current financial liabilities - - 500

Financial liabilities (B) 0 746 569

Net exposure (A-B) (0) (746) (165)

Particulars As at 31 March 2022
Currency type

AUD EURO USD
Trade receivables - - 127

Financial assets (A) - - 127
Trade payables 1 4,444 843

Other current financial liabilities - - 1,377

Financial liabilities (B) 1 4,444 2,220

Net exposure (A-B) (1) (4,444) (2,093)

Sensitivity

The sensitivity of profit or loss to changes in the exchange rates arises mainly from foreign currency denominated 
financial instruments.

Particulars 31 March 2023

Currency type

AUD EURO USD

Foreign exchange rate increased by 5% (0) (37) (8)

Foreign exchange rate decreased by 5% 0 37 8

Particulars 31 March 2022

Currency type

GBP EURO USD

Foreign exchange rate increased by 5% (0) (222) (105)

Foreign exchange rate decreased by 5% 0 222 105
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ii. Interest rate risk

Liabilities

The Group’s fixed rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost. They are therefore not subject to interest rate
risk as defined in Ind AS 107, since neither the carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because
of a change in market interest rates.

a) Interest rate risk exposure

The exposure of the Group’s borrowing to interest rate changes at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Variable rate borrowings 7,250 37,558
Total borrowings 7,250 37,558

b) Sensitivity

Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest expense from borrowings as a result of changes in
interest rates

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Interest rates – increase by 50 basis points (31 March 2022 50 bps) (36) (188)
Interest rates – decrease by 50 basis points (31 March 2022 50 bps) 36 188

Assets

The Group’s fixed deposits are carried at fixed rate. Therefore not subject to interest rate risk, since neither 
the carrying amount nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because of change in market interest rates.

iii. Price risk

a) Exposure

The exposure to price risk arises from investments held by the Group and classified in the balance sheet
either as fair value through OCI or at fair value through profit or loss.

The majority of the group’s investments are in mutual funds.

b) Sensitivity

Further the Group is not exposed to any price risk as none of the equity securities held by the Group are
classified as fair value through profit and loss or fair value through OCI.

49. Capital management

For the purpose of the Group’s capital management, capital includes issued capital and all other equity reserves attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Group. The primary objective of the Group when managing capital is to safeguard its ability
to continue as a going concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximize shareholder value.
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As at 31 March, 2023, the Group has only one class of equity shares and has reasonable debt. The Group’s net debt consists 
interest bearing borrowings. Consequent to such capital structure, there are no externally imposed capital requirements. In 
order to maintain or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group allocates its capital for distribution as dividend or re-
investment into business based on its long term financial plans.

The gearing ratios were as follows:

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Net debt 7,250 37,558

Total equity  (78,879) 87,542

Net debt to equity ratio  (0.09)  0.43

50. Taxation

Particulars For the year ended

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Income tax recognised in statement of profit and loss

Current tax - 2,912

Deferred tax (including earlier years) (40,458) (54,308)

Total income tax expense recognised in the current year (40,458) (51,396)

The major components of income tax expense and the reconciliation of expense based on the domestic effective tax rate of 
25.168% and the reported tax expense in statement of profit or loss are as follows:

Particulars For the year ended

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Income tax recognised in statement of profit and loss

Loss before tax (208,812) (238,119)

Income tax using domestic tax rate* 25.168% 25.168%

Expected tax expense (A) (52,554) (59,930)

Tax effect of adjustments to reconcile expected income tax expense to reported 
income tax expense

Tax impact of exempted income - -

Tax impact of expenses on account of permanent differences 12,074 8,238

Others 22 296

Total adjustments (B) 12,096 8,534

Total Income-tax expense (A+B) (40,458) (51,396)
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*Domestic tax rate applicable to the Group has been computed as follows:

Particulars For the year ended

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Basic tax rate 22.00% 22.00%

Surcharge (% of tax) 10.00% 10.00%

Cess (% of tax) 4.00% 4.00%

Applicable rate 25.168% 25.168%

51. Segmental information

In line with the provisions of Ind AS 108 “Operating segments” and based on review of the operations done by the chief 
operating decision maker (CODM), the operations of the Group fall under Direct to Home (‘DTH’) and teleport services, which 
is considered to be the only reportable segment by the CODM.

As a part of reporting for geographical segments, the Group operates in two principal geographical areas of the world, i.e., 
within India and outside India. Revenue from external customers within India is Rs. 2,26,185 lacs (previous year Rs. 2,80,249 
lacs) and from external customer outside India is nil (previous year nil). Further, non current assets (excluding financial 
instruments, deferred tax assets and post employment benefits assets) amounts to Rs. 2,14,456 lacs (previous year Rs. 
4,73,794 lacs) for India and Rs. Nil (previous year Rs. 311 lacs) outside India.

52. Related party disclosures

In accordance with the requirement of Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, name of the 
related parties, related party relationships, transactions and outstanding balances are as follows:

a) Related parties with whom the Group had transactions:

Key management personnel (KMP) Mr. Jawahar Lal Goel, Chairman and Managing Director  
(up to 19 September 2022)

Mr. Ashok Mathai Kurien, Non Executive Director  
(upto 30 December 2021)

Dr. Rashmi Aggarwal, Independent Director

Mr. Bhagwan Das Narang, Independent Director  
(up to 26 September 2022)

Mr. Shankar Aggarwal, Independent Director

Mr. Anil Dua, Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Rajeev Dalmia, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Ranjit Singh, Company Secretary

Enterprises over which key management personnel/ their 
relatives have significant influence

Dish TV employees group gratuity trust
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b) Transactions during the year with related parties:

Particulars For the year ended 
31 March 2023

For the year ended 
31 March 2022

(i) With key management personnel 
Remuneration paid to KMPs
Salaries, wages and bonus 936 1,150
Post-employment benefits 47 62
Sitting Fee 100 70

(ii) With other related parties: 
Gratuity contribution during the year
Dish TV employees group gratuity trust 734 -

53. A Leases

Group as a lessee

The Group has entered into lease arrangements for land and various offices that are renewable on a periodic basis with 
approval of both lessor and lessee.

The Group does not have any lease commitments towards variable rent as per the contract.

Each lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the Group to sublet the asset to 
another party, the right of use asset can only be used by the Group. Leases are either non-cancellable or may only be 
cancelled by incurring a substantive termination fee. The Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying 
leased assets as security. For leases over office buildings and premises the Group must keep those properties in a good 
state of repair and return the properties in their original condition at the end of the lease.

i. The table below describes the nature of the Group’s leasing activities by type of right of use asset recognised on 
balance sheet: 

Right of use 
assets

Number 
of leases 

(no.)

Range of 
remaining 

term (years)

Average 
remaining lease 

term (years)

Number of leases 
with extension 

option (no.)

Number of leases 
with purchase 

option (no.)

Number of leases 
with termination 

option (no.)
Leasehold land 1 67 67 1 - 1

ii. Additional information on the ‘Right of Use’ assets by class of assets is as follows: 

Right of use assets Carrying amount as 
at 1 April 2022

Additions Depreciation Impairment Carrying amount as 
at 31 March 2023

Leasehold land 2,496 - 36 - 2,460

Right of use assets Carrying amount as 
at 1 April 2021

Additions Depreciation Impairment Carrying amount as 
at 31 March 2022

Leasehold land 2,533 - 37 - 2,496
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iii. Lease liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

Particulars As at  
31 March 2023

As at  
31 March 2022

Current 14 14

Non-current 196 189

Total 210 203

iv. The Group had not committed to any leases not commencing as on 31 March 2023 (previous year nil).

v. The undiscounted maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:

As at 31 March 2023

Particulars Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years More than 5 years Total

Lease payments 14 14 14 14 14 4,284 4,354

Finance charges - 7 7 7 8 4,115 4,144

Net present values 14 7 7 7 6 169 210

As at 31 March 2022

Particulars Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years More than 5 years Total

Lease payments 14 14 14 14 14 4,298 4,368

Finance charges - 5 6 7 7 4,140 4,165

Net present values 14 9 8 7 7 158 203

vi. The Group has elected not to recognise a lease liability for short term leases (leases of expected term of 12 months
or less) or for leases of low value assets. Payments made under such leases are expensed on a straight-line basis.

vii. The Group had total cash outflows for leases of Rs. 14 lacs during the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (previous
year Rs. 14 lacs).

The following are the amounts recognised in the statement of profit and loss:

Particulars For the year ended  
31 March 2023

For the year ended  
31 March 2022

Depreciation expense of right of use assets 36 37

Interest expense on lease liabilities 20 20

Expense relating to short-term leases (included in other expenses) 28,082 27,290

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 28,138 27,347
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Group as a lessor

a) The Group has leased out assets by way of operating lease. Lease income recognised in the statement of profit 
and loss is below:

Particulars For the year ended

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Sub-lease rental income (being shared cost) 911 894

b) Assets given under operating lease

The Group has leased out assets by way of operating lease. The gross book value of such assets at the end of the 
year, their accumulated depreciation and depreciation for the year are as given below:

Particulars For the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Gross value of assets 211,216 211,208
Accumulated depreciation 211,209 194,550
Net block 7 16,658
Depreciation for the year 16,659 35,216

The lease rental income recognised during the year in respect of non-cancellable operating leases and minimum 
obligations on long term non-cancellable operating lease receivable as per the rentals stated in the agreements 
are as follows:

Particulars For the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Lease rental income recognised during the year 102 406

Particulars Total future minimum lease  
rentals receivable as at

31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Within one year 57 102
Later than one year and not later than five years 17 74

B Title deeds of immovable properties not held in name of the Company

Relevant 
line item 
in the 
Balance 
Sheet

Description 
of item of 
property

Gross 
carrying 

value

Title 
deeds 
held 

in the 
name of

Whether title deed holder 
is a promoter, director 

or relative of promoter /
director or employee of 

promoter /director

Property 
held 
since 
which 
date

Reason for not being held in the 
name of the company

Property, 
plant and 
equipment

Land 2,607 Videocon 
d2h 

Limited

No 1 October 
2017

Right of use of land is vested in 
the Company pursuant to merger 
scheme of Videocon d2h Limited with 
the Company, title deeds of which are 
in the name of Videocon d2h Limited.
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54. a)  The Parent Company is in the litigation towards computation and payment of DTH License Fees between the Parent Company
and Ministry of Information and Broadcasting (“MIB”), a Writ petition of the Parent Company is pending before the Hon’ble 
High Court of Jammu and Kashmir where inter alia the quantum/ applicability of License Fee and imposition of interest has 
been challenged by the Parent Company. The Hon’ble High Court of Jammu and Kashmir had also allowed the interim prayer 
of the Parent Company vide order dated 13 October 2015 which continues to be in force as the Writ is pending. Similar Writs 
are also pending before the Hon’ble Supreme Court of India. The Parent Company continues to be legally advised that the 
Company’s stand has merits. Using the principle of prudence in accounting standards, the Parent Company, in prior years, 
made a provision of Rs. 3,75,671 lacs in its books of account, which in the current period has been increased by Rs. 25,834 lacs 
primarily towards interest as a time value of money charge. Notwithstanding the recognition of a provision as per accounting 
standards, it shall not be deemed an admission of any liability by the Parent Company under the relevant laws and regulations.

Provision for regulatory dues (including interest)

Particulars As at 
31 March 2023

As at 
31 March 2022

Opening provision 394,506 374,017
Add: created during the year 33,952 33,120
Less: payment during the year 17,589 12,631
Closing provision 410,869 394,506

The outflow of economic benefits with regard to the disputed portion would be dependent on the final decision by the 
Regulatory Authority. Presently, it has been classified under the ‘Provision (current)’

b) In continuation to the matter described in note a) above, the parent Company has filed Petition (205(C) of 2014) before the 
Hon’ble Telecom Disputes Settlement & Appellate Tribunal (TDSAT) against Union of India challenging the propriety and
legality of the demand of Rs. 62,420 lacs including interest of Rs. 15,967 lacs raised by the Ministry of Information and
Broadcasting (MIB) by way of a demand letter dated 19 March 2014 towards alleged short payment of license fee for the
period 2003-04 to 2012-13. The matter is pending before the Hon’ble TDSAT.

Further pursuant to scheme of merger, parent Company has assumed deemed liability of Rs. 13,104 lacs and interest
liability of Rs. 2,724 lacs which was raised by the MIB on transferor company by way of demand letter dated 24 March
2014 towards alleged short payment of license fee for the period 2009-10 to 2012-13. Transferor company had filed
petition (204(C) of 2014) before the Hon’ble TDSAT against Union of India challenging the propriety and legality of the
demand. The matter is also pending before the Hon’ble TDSAT.

Further, despite the matter being sub-judice as stated above, the Company received communications from the MIB,
wherein the parent Company was directed to pay Rs. 565,228 Lacs towards the license fee since grant of respective
DTH Licenses up to financial year 2021-22 (including interest till 31 March 2023). However, the MIB has in its said
communication, also mentioned that the amount was subject to verification and audit and the outcome of various
court cases pending before Hon’ble TDSAT, the Hon’ble High Court of Jammu & Kashmir and Ladakh and the Hon’ble
Supreme Court of India. The parent Company responded to the said communications disputing the demand. Further on
19 January 2023, Company received a letter from office of the Director General of Audit (Central Expenditure) (in short
‘CAG’) regarding audit of License Fees paid/payable by the Company to the MIB, which was responded by the Company
challenging the scope of audit. The parent Company thereafter filed an application before the Hon’ble High Court of
Jammu & Kashmir and Ladakh at Jammu against the conduct of CAG Audit and upon hearing the Parties, the Hon’ble
High Court vide its order dated 02 March 2023 granted stay on the CAG Audit till further orders.
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55. Earnings per share

a) Basic earnings per share

Particulars For the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders (A) (168,354) (183,136)
Weighted average number of equity shares (B) 1,923,785,637 1,923,785,489
Nominal value of equity share (in Rs.) 1 1
Basic earnings per share (in Rs.) (A/B) (8.75) (9.51)

b) Diluted earnings per share

Particulars For the year ended
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Loss for the year attributable to equity shareholders (168,354) (183,136)
Net loss adjusted for diluted earnings per share (A) (168,354) (183,136)
Weighted average number of equity and potential equity shares (nos) (B) 1,923,785,637 1,923,785,489
Nominal value of equity share (in Rs.) 1 1
Diluted earnings per share (in Rs.) (A/B) (8.75) (9.51)

Note: The incremental shares from assumed exercise of share options were not included in calculating the diluted 
earning per share amount as these were anti-dilutive in nature.

56. Rights issue

The Parent company during the financial year ended 31 March 2009 issued 518,149,592 equity shares of Re.1 each at a premium 
of Rs. 21 per share for cash to the existing equity shareholders on the record date. The terms of payment were as under:

Particulars Total 
amount 
due (per 
share)

Towards 
face value 

(per 
share)

Towards 
securities 
premium 

(per share)

Total 
amount

Due on (from the 
date of allotment, 
at the option of the 
Parent Company)

Date of making the Call

(Rs.) (Rs.) (Rs.) (in Rs. lacs)
On application 6.00 0.50 5.50 31,089 Along with 

application
Not applicable

On first call 8.00 0.25 7.75 41,452 After 3 months but 
within 9 months

The Board at its meeting held on 18 
June 2009 decided to make the first 
call, payable on or before 31 July 2009*

On second and 
final  call

8.00 0.25 7.75 41,452 After 9 months but 
within 18 months

The Board at its meeting held on 22 
January 2010 decided to make the 
second and final call, payable on or 
before 1 March 2010*

Total 22.00 1.00 21.00 113,993 .

* Shareholders are entitled to make the call payment after due date with simple interest @ 8% p.a.
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During the previous year ended, the Parent Company, out of the total call money of Rs. 0.42 lacs received during 
previous years classified as other current liability for 33,561 partly paid shares, have completed the pending corporate 
action and converted 2,201 partly paid equity shares in to 2,201 fully paid shares and forfeited the balance 31,360 
unpaid shares.

Upto the financial year ended 31 March 2023, the Parent Company has received Rs. 1,13,989 lacs (previous year Rs. 1,13,989 
lacs) towards right issues process on 518,118,232 fully paid shares issued under right issue scheme.

The utilisation of rights issue proceeds have been in accordance with the revised manner of usage of rights issue 
proceeds, as approved by the Board of Directors of the Parent Company, in their meeting held on 28 May 2009. The 
utilisation of the rights issue proceeds as per the revised usage aggregating to Rs. 113,989 lacs (previous year Rs. 
113,989 lacs) is as under.

The details of utilisation of rights issue proceeds by the Parent Company, on an overall basis, are as below:

Particulars Up to

31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Amount utilized 28,421 28,421

Repayment of loans

Repayment of loans, received after right issue launch 24,300 24,300

General corporate purpose/ operational expenses 34,723 34,723

Acquisition of Consumer Premises Equipment (CPE) 26,000 26,000

Right issue expenses 545 545

Total money utilized 113,989 113,989

57. Issue of Global Depository Receipts (GDR Issue): -

Pursuant to the approvals obtained by the Parent Company and in accordance with the applicable laws including the Foreign 
Currency Convertible Bonds and Ordinary Shares (Through Depository Receipts Mechanism) Scheme, 1993, as amended, the 
Global Depository Receipt (GDR) Offer of the Company for 117,035 GDRs opened for subscription on 23 November 2009 at a price 
of US $ 854.50 per GDR, each GDR representing 1000 fully paid equity shares. The pricing of the GDR, as per the pricing formula 
prescribed under Foreign Currency Convertible Bonds and Ordinary Shares (Through Depository Receipts Mechanism) Scheme, 
1993, as amended, was Rs. 39.80 per fully paid equity share and the relevant date for this purpose was 23 November 2009.

Upon opening, the GDR issue for USD 1,000 lacs (approx.) was fully subscribed and the Company received USD 1,000 lacs 
(approx.), towards the subscription money. Upon receipt of the subscription money, the Issue Committee of the Board at its 
meeting held on 30 November 2009, issued and allotted 117,035,000 fully paid equity shares @ Rs. 39.80 per fully paid equity 
share to M/s Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (being the depository) in lieu of the GDR issued. The GDR’s were listed 
at the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 March 2013, 32,000 GDRs were cancelled and converted in to 32,000,000 equity shares of Re. 1 each 
by the holder and during the year ended 31 March 2016, 85,035 GDRs were sold in the domestic market and converted into 
85,035,000 equity shares of Re 1 each by the holder and accordingly GDR outstanding thereafter are nil.
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The detail of utilisation of GDR proceeds by the Parent Company, on an overall basis, is as below:-

Particulars Up to 
31 March 2023

Up to 
31 March 2022

Amount utilized
Acquisition of fixed assets including CPEs 7,670 7,670
GDR issue expenses 345 345
Advance against share application money given to subsidiaries 56 56
Repayment of bank loan 755 755
Operational expenses including interest payments, bank charges and exchange fluctuation 51,369 51,369
Total 60,195 60,195

Also, refer footnote 1 to note 21 (c) related to issue of global depository receipts pursuant to the scheme of amalgamation.

58. Contingent liabilities, litigations and commitments

a) Claims against the Group (including unasserted claims) not acknowledged as debt:

Particulars 31 March 2023 31 March 2022
Income-tax 1 1
Sales tax, value added tax and entry tax 58,383 58,657
Customs duty 66,907 66,907
Service tax 32,419 32,442
Wealth tax 1 1
Entertainment tax 19,862 19,862
Other claims 483 483

Other than above:

a) Penalty, if any, levied on conclusion of above matters is currently not ascertainable.

b) The Company has certain litigations involving customers and based on the legal advise of in-house legal team, the
management believes that no material liability will devolve on the Company in respect of these litigations.

Income tax

In earlier years, the Company had received demand notices for tax deducted at source (‘TDS’) and interest thereon 
amounting to Rs.760 lacs (excluding penalty levied amounting Rs. 16 lacs) relating to matters pertaining to alleged short 
deduction of tax at source on certain payments for the assessment years 2009-10 to 2013-14. Out of the cases mentioned 
above, Company has received favourable orders in the matter of assessment year 2010-11 and 2011-12. The balance 
demands amounting to Rs. 348 lacs relates to matters pertaining to alleged short deduction of tax at source on certain 
payments for the assessment years 2009-10, 2012-13 and 2013-14. In respect of the demand received the Company 
had made payment under protest of Rs. 348 lacs which was paid in the previous years. Further, the amount paid under 
protest, as a matter of abandoned caution, based on management estimate has been provided for in the books. However, 
the Company has disputed all these matters and filed appeal against the above said demands with the tax authorities.

Furthermore, the company has preferred to settle the dispute relating to tax arrears/Interest/Penalty under the Vivaad 
se Vishwas Scheme, 2020 by filling forms dated 8 March 2021 for all the above Financial Years.
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Sales tax, value added tax, entry tax, service tax, entertainment tax, custom duty and other claims

The Company and its subsidiary Company, Dish Infra Services Private Limited have received notices/assessment orders 
in relation to applicability of above-mentioned taxes. The Companies have contested these notices at various Forums/
Courts and the matter is subjudice. Further, the Company has assumed the contingent liability in relation to above-
mentioned taxes as part of the merger with Videocon d2h Limited.

Based on the advice from independent tax experts, and development on the appeals, the Group is confident that the 
additional tax so demanded will not be sustained on the completion of appellate proceedings and accordingly, pending 
the decisions by the appellate authorities, no provision has been made in these financial statements.

Others

i) In August 2016, the Hon’ble Delhi High Court (HC) passed an order restraining the Company from operation in MENA 
(Middle East and North Africa) region, on a plea brought by the UAE-based company Gulf DTH FZ LLC, about copyright 
infringement by Dish TV in the region. An application for interim stay filed by Gulf DTH FZ LLC has been allowed by 
the Single Judge Bench of High Court vide its order dated 30 August 2016 which was further confirmed by Division 
Bench of Hon’ble High Court. However the Company has filed separate appeals and same are pending for disposal. 
Based on management’s assessment and independent expert’s advice, the Company believes no claim will devolve 
upon the Company and no provision has been recognised.

ii) The Dish Infra Services Private Limited, one of the subsidiary company has a process whereby periodically all long term 
contracts (including derivative contracts) are assessed for material foreseeable losses. At the year end, the company 
has reviewed and ensured that adequate provision as required under the law/Ind AS for the material foreseeable losses 
on such long term contract (including derivative contracts) has been made in the books of accounts.

iii) During the financial ended 31 March 2018, the Directorate of Revenue Intelligence (DRI), Bangalore, under section 108 of 
the Customs Act, 1962, had inquired about the classification of viewing cards for applicability of customs duty. The parent 
company had, suo-moto, paid Rs. 600 lacs under protest. During the financial year 2019-20, the Company had received 
a demand notice for Rs.11,846 lacs. The Company had paid an additional amount of Rs. 1,000 lacs under protest and 
contested this notice. Further, ADG (Adj.) DRI Delhi has confirmed the demand vide orders dated 27 April 2020 and 28 April 
2020 and imposed applicable interest and penalty of an equivalent amount. The Company had preferred appeals before 
CESTAT, Delhi in August 2020 along with the predeposit of Rs. 324 lacs, against the said orders. Further in October 2021, 
CESTAT, Delhi has set aside the ADG (Adj.) DRI Delhi order dated 27th April 2020 and allowed the appeal. However, DRI has 
filed a civil appeal against the CESTAT, Delhi order before the Hon’ble Supreme Court of India and the matter is pending 
before the Hon’ble Supreme Court. Further, appeal against the ADG (Adj.) DRI Delhi order dated 28th April 2020 is still 
pending before the CESTAT, Delhi. The Company is confident that the demand will not be sustained therefore, no provision 
has been made in these financial statements and the amount demanded has been shown as a contingent liability.

iv) During the financial year 2019-20, the wholly-owned subsidiary company, Dish Infra Services Private Limited has 
received a Show Cause Notice for Rs. 42,686 lacs from the office of the Directorate of Revenue Intelligence (DRI), 
Bangalore, under section 108 of the Customs Act, 1962. The subsidiary Company has preferred a writ petition for 
challenging the validity of the show cause notice before the Hon’ble High Court of Delhi. The writ petition has been 
maintained by the Hon’ble High Court and issued a notice to the DRI Bangalore. The subsidiary Company is confident 
that the proposed demand will not be sustained and therefore, no provision has been made in these financial 
statements and the amount demanded has been shown as a contingent liability.
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b) Commitments

Particulars As at 
31 March 2023

As at 
31 March 2022

Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on capital account 
(net of advances)

13,419 24,202

59. Bank balances include:-

Particulars As at
31 March 2023 31 March 2022

Provided as security to Government authorities 79 65
Held as margin money for bank guarantees 14,347 14,676

60 Additional information pursuant to schedule III of the Act:

As at 31 March 2023
Name of the Company Net assets i.e. total assets 

minus total liabilities
Share in profit or (loss) Share in other 

comprehensive income
Share in total comprehensive 

income
Amount As a % of 

consolidated 
net assets

Amount As a % of 
consolidated 

net profit/ 
(loss)

Amount As a % of 
consolidated other 

comprehensive 
income

Amount As a % of 
consolidated Total 

comprehensive 
income

Parent Company
Dish TV India Limited (118,636) 150% (202,963) 120% (56) 64% (203,019) 120%
Indian subsidiary
Dish Infra Services Private 
Limited.

145,477 -184% (122,377) 73% (32) 37% (122,409) 73%

C&S Medianet Private Limited (11) 0% (0) 0% - - (0) 0%
Intra group elimination (105,709) 134% 156,986 -93% 1 -1% 156,987 -93%
Grand Total (78,879) 100% (168,354) 100% (87) 100% (168,441) 100%

As at 31 March 2022
Name of the Company Net assets i.e. total assets 

minus total liabilities
Share in profit or (loss) Share in other 

comprehensive income
Share in total comprehensive 

income
Amount As a % of 

consolidated 
net assets

Amount As a % of 
consolidated 

net profit/ 
(loss)

Amount As a % of 
consolidated other 

comprehensive 
income

Amount As a % of 
consolidated Total 

comprehensive 
income

Parent Company
Dish TV India Limited 84,381 96% (242,242) 130% (36) 0% (242,278) 138%
Indian subsidiary
Dish Infra Services Private 
Limited.

267,902 306% (137,945) 74% 56 0% (137,889) 79%

C&S Medianet Private Limited (12) -0% 2 -0% - - 2 0%
Foreign subsidiary
Dish TV Lanka (Private) Limited. (25,082) -29% (11,961) 6% 11,407 100% (555) 0%
Intra group elimination (239,647) -274% 205,423 -110% - - 205,423 -117%
Grand Total 87,542 100% (186,723) 100% 11,427 100% (175,296) 100%
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Profit or loss attributable to “minority interest” and to owners of the parent in the Statement of Profit and Loss shall be 
presented as allocation for the year

Particulars For the year ended 
31 March 2023

For the year ended 
31 March 2022

Loss for the year (168,354) (186,723)

Loss attributable to owners of the Group (168,354) (183,136)

Loss attributable minority interests (0) (3,587)

Total (168,354) (186,723)

Other comprehensive income attributable to “minority interest” and to owners of the parent in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss shall be presented as allocation for the year

Particulars For the year ended 
31 March 2023

For the year ended 
31 March 2022

(Loss)/profit for the year (87) 11,427
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Group (87) 8,005
Profit attributable minority interests - 3,422
Total (87) 11,427

61. Transactions with struck off companies

The following table summarises the transactions with the companies struck off under section 248 of the Companies Act, 2013 
or section 560 of Companies Act, 1956 for the year ended / as at 31 March 2023:

Name of struck off Company Nature of transactions 
with struck off Company

Amount of 
transactions

Balance 
outstanding

Relationship with 
the Struck off company

Piccadily Holiday Resorts Ltd. Services availed (0.44) 0.95 External vendor
SPC Consulting Services Pvt. Ltd. Services availed (1.18) - External vendor
Swift Packaging Pvt. Ltd Material purchase (0.70) - External vendor
Welcome Hotels Private Limited Services provided 15.88 (0.51) External Customer

62. Other statutory informations

i. The Group do not have any Benami property, where any proceeding has been initiated or pending against the Company
for holding any Benami property.

ii. The Group have not traded or invested in Crypto currency or Virtual Currency during the financial year.

iii. The Group have not advanced or loaned or invested funds to any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities
(Intermediaries) with the understanding that the Intermediary shall

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of
the Group (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or
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(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries

iv. The Group have not received any fund from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (Funding Party) with the
understanding (whether recorded in writing or otherwise) that the Group shall

(a) directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of
the Group (Ultimate Beneficiaries) or

(b) provide any guarantee, security or the like to or on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

v. The Group have not any such transaction which is not recorded in the books of accounts that has been surrendered or
disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 (such as, search or survey or 
any other relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act, 1961.

vi. The Group has sanctioned working capital amounts from banks on the basis of security of fixed deposits. The quarterly
returns being filed by company with banks are in line with the books of accounts.

vii. The Parent Company and the subsidiaries consolidated herewith has not been declared as wilful defaulter by any bank or 
financial institution (as defined under the Companies Act, 2013) or consortium thereof, in accordance with the guidelines
on wilful defaulters issued by the Reserve Bank of India.

viii. The Group has not entered into any scheme of arrangement which has an accounting impact on current or previous
financial year.

ix. The Group has not revalued its property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets) or intangible assets or both
during the current or previous year.

x. The Group has not granted any loans or advances in the nature of loans to promoters, directors, KMPs and the related
parties (as defined under Companies Act 2013), either severally or jointly with any other person which are repayable on
demand or without specifying any terms of repayment.

63. The initial term of the Direct To Home (“DTH”) License issued to the Company was provisionally extended from time to
time by the Ministry of Information and Broadcasting, Government of India (“MIB”) in the past. On 30 December 2020, MIB
issued amended DTH guidelines for obtaining license for providing DTH Broadcasting Services in India, however, consolidated 
operational guidelines along with the amendments are yet to be issued. In accordance with the amended guidelines, the
Company had applied for issue of license and the MIB has granted provisional license vide its letter dated 31 March 2021 on
the terms and conditions as mentioned therein.

64. (a)  On 23 September 2021, the Company received a requisition notice dated 21 September 2021 from Yes Bank Limited (“Yes
Bank”) requisitioning an EGM to consider resolution(s) for change in the Board of Directors of the Company. The Board of 
Directors of the Company, upon evaluation and on the basis of legal opinions, unanimously agreed that the EGM cannot 
be called, as requisitioned by Yes Bank. Yes Bank, subsequently approached the Hon’ble National Company Law Tribunal, 
Mumbai Bench and the matter is currently pending for disposal. J. C. Flower Asset Reconstruction Private Limited 
pursuant to assignment of loans together with underlying invoked shares from Yes Bank, has now filed an application for 
substitution of its name as petitioner in the said Petition. Company has filed its reply to the said application and the issue 
is sub-judice. The management believes that aforesaid matter do not impact the financial results of the Company.
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(b) Yes bank Limited has filed a Company Petition under Sections 241-242 of the Companies Act ,2013 before the NCLT,
Mumbai seeking inter alia Interim reliefs from the Hon’ble Tribunal of temporary injunction (a) restraining the Parent 
Company and its Directors from conducting Annual General meeting, (b) restraining the Directors from acting in any
manner as directors/KMPs/ officers of Parent Company, (c) appoint an independent administrator to discharge the
duties or Committee of Directors suggested by Yes Bank. The matter is currently pending.

(c) On account of the non-approval of proposals regarding appointment and re-appointment of certain Directors by the
shareholders at the extraordinary general meetings and Annual General Meeting, the Board strength has reduced
from the minimum required level of six (06) as stipulated under SEBI Listing Regulations and has currently three (3)
members on the Board. The Board has taken necessary steps for induction of new members on the Board including
filing application with the Ministry of Information & Broadcasting for seeking prior approval for appointment of new
Directors on the Board.

65. The annual audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 have not been adopted by the
Shareholders with requisite majority and accordingly the same have been filed with the Registrar of Companies on 23 March
2022 and 02 November 2022 respectively, as provisional/un-adopted financials under section 137 of the Companies Act,
2013. The management believes that aforesaid matter does not impact the accompanying financial statement of the parent
Company.

66. During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group reclassified/regrouped certain balances as at 31 March 2022 and 01 April
2021, as follows, which are not considered material to these financial statements:

Particulars As at  
31 March 2022 

(Reported)

Impact As at  
31 March 2022 

(Restated)

As at  
01 April 2021 

(Reported)

Impact As at  
01 April 2021 

(Restated)
Balance Sheet
Cash and cash equivalents 7,373 (3,642) 3,731 9,397 (3,561) 5,836
Bank balances other than cash and 
cash equivalents

10,845 3,642 14,487 615 3,561 9,711

This is the consolidated summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information referred to in our 
report of even date.
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